
There is an induction hearing loop system available in all meeting rooms.  Some of the 
systems are infra-red operated, if you wish to use this system then please contact 
Philippa Turvey on 01733 452460 as soon as possible.

AB
PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 13 OCTOBER 2015
1.30 PM

Bourges/Viersen Rooms - Town Hall

AGENDA
Page No

1. Apologies for Absence

2. Declarations of Interest

At this point Members must declare whether they have a disclosable 
pecuniary interest, or other interest, in any of the items on the agenda, 
unless it is already entered in the register of members’ interests or is a 
“pending notification “ that has been disclosed to the Solicitor to the Council. 

3. Members' Declaration of intention to make representations as Ward 
Councillor

4. Development Control and Enforcement Matters

4.1 15/01059/WCMM - Eyebury Quarry, Eyebury Road, Eye, 
Peterborough

5 - 20

4.2 15/01086/R4FUL - Sports Ground, Fulbridge Road, 
Peterborough

21 - 46

4.3 15/01129/FUL - Cranford Drive Boiler House, Hartwell Court, 
Westwood, Peterborough

47 - 58

4.4 15/01198/FUL - 500 Oundle Road, Orton Longueville, 
Peterborough, PE2 7DF

59 - 66

4.5 15/01200/FUL - 241 Park Road, Peterborough, PE1 2UT 67 - 80

4.6 15/01402/FUL - 24 St Davids Square, Fengate, Peterborough, 
PE1 5QA

81 - 88

Public Document Pack



4.7 Tree Preservation Order 01_2015 - 367 Eastfield Road, 
Peterborough

89 - 108

Emergency Evacuation Procedure – Outside Normal Office Hours

In the event of the fire alarm sounding all persons should vacate the building by way of the nearest escape 
route and proceed directly to the assembly point in front of the Cathedral.  The duty Beadle will assume 
overall control during any evacuation, however in the unlikely event the Beadle is unavailable, this 
responsibility will be assumed by the Committee Chair.

Recording of Council Meetings: Any member of the public may film, audio-record, take photographs and use 
social media to report the proceedings of any meeting that is open to the public. A protocol on this facility is 
available at: 

http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s21850/Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20Recordi
ng.pdf

Committee Members:

Councillors: C Harper (Chairman), L Serluca (Vice Chairman), P Hiller, N North, J Stokes, 
S Martin, Sylvester, D Harrington, J Okonkowski and S Lane

Substitutes: Councillors: G Casey, N Shabbir, C Ash, R Herdman and J R Fox

Further information about this meeting can be obtained from Philippa Turvey on telephone 01733 
452460 or by email – philippa.turvey@peterborough.gov.uk

http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s21850/Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20Recording.pdf
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s21850/Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20Recording.pdf


CASE OFFICERS:

Planning and Development Team: Nicholas Harding, Lee Collins, Andrew Cundy, Paul Smith, 
Mike Roberts, Louise Lewis, Janet Maclennan, Astrid 
Hawley, David Jolley, Louise Lovegrove, Vicky Hurrell, 
Amanda McSherry, Sam Falco, Matt Thomson, Chris 
Edwards, Michael Freeman

Minerals and Waste: Theresa Nicholl, Alan Jones

Compliance: Nigel Barnes, Anthony Whittle, Karen Cole, Julie Robshaw

NOTES:

1. Any queries on completeness or accuracy of reports should be raised with the Case Officer 
or Head of Planning, Transport and Engineering Services as soon as possible.

2. The purpose of location plans is to assist Members in identifying the location of the site.  
Location plans may not be up-to-date, and may not always show the proposed development.  

3. These reports take into account the Council's equal opportunities policy but have no 
implications for that policy, except where expressly stated.

4. The background papers for planning applications are the application file plus any documents 
specifically referred to in the report itself.

5. These reports may be updated orally at the meeting if additional relevant information is 
received after their preparation.



This page is intentionally left blank



5



This page is intentionally left blank

6



Planning and EP Committee 13 October 2015      Item 1

Application Ref: 15/01059/WCMM 

Proposal: Variation of conditions C1, C10 and C21 of planning permission 
11/02052/WCMM - Variation of conditions 1,  19 , 21 and 31 of planning 
permission 08/01562/WCMM to allow the acceptance of asbestos in 
dedicated cells and to increase the catchment area for asbestos

Site: Eyebury Quarry, Eyebury Road, Eye, Peterborough
Applicant: Mr Mike Harty

Rixton Old Hall
Agent:
Referred by: Director of Growth and Regeneration
Reason: EIA development
Site visit: 27.08.2015

Case officer: Mr A O Jones
Telephone No. 01733 454440
E-Mail: alan.jones@peterborough.gov.uk

Recommendation: GRANT subject to relevant conditions  

1 Description of the site and surroundings and Summary of the proposal

Site and Surroundings

The site comprises the "southern extension area" within the existing Eye landfill site which lies to 
the south east of Eye village. The eastern boundary of the site is formed by Cat's Water Drain. The 
existing "southern extension" scheme covers approximately 15.7 hectares and comprises 8 
engineered cells with a total void space of 1,675,000 cubic metres prior to waste settlement and 
restoration of the site. The site is an operational landfill site, (with an adjacent quarry site to the 
northwest) and has an appearance typical of such workings; in the central area there are lagoons 
and processing plant. The landfill operation is subject to a planning permission and a permit from 
the Environment Agency for 8 cells for non hazardous landfill (those subject of this proposal), and 
a separate cell for inert waste (recently subject of planning application 15/00763/NONMAT to 
amend the contours to accommodate the recently approved 'IVC' facility, subject of permission 
14/01307/MMFUL). The eastern strip of the southern extension is being restored as a wildlife 
corridor as required by previous permissions. The area around Eyebury landfill is characterised by 
a fen edge appearance - large open fields and sporadic farmhouses and other dwellings. Willow 
Hall Farm quarry is located to the east of the site, separated from the landfill by the Cat's Water 
Drain.

Proposal

The application seeks to vary conditions 1, 10 and 21 of planning permission 11/02052/WCMM in 
relation to the approved order of cell infilling, and the relocation of Stable Non-Reactive Hazardous 
Waste (SNRHW) cells within the approved cells.

Condition 1 - relates to the approved plans and details and would need to be amended to include 
revised plans showing the amended placement of dedicated SNRHW cells and amended pre-
settlement, pre-restoration levels.

Condition 10 - relates to the approved soil movement and phasing scheme.

Condition 21 - relates to the pre-settlement levels. There are no proposed changes to the final 

7



restoration levels. The SNRHW and non-haz cells have varying degrees of anticipated settlement, 
and the re-location of SNRHW cells requires consideration to enable the approved restoration, post 
settlement, contours to be achieved.

Permission 11/02052/WCMM (the 2011 permission) is the latest in a line of permissions for this 
area of the site that go back to 1994. The 2011 permission was accompanied by an Environmental 
Assessment (EA), and the development is Schedule 1 development under the 2011 Environmental 
Impact Assessment Regulations. An EA is therefore mandatory for the current proposals and an 
updated Environmental Statement (addendum) has been submitted to address the overall 
cumulative impacts of the development.

8



2 Planning History

Reference Proposal Decision Date
08/01562/WCMM Variation of Condition C1, C2 and C9 of 

planning permission 94/00004/MMFUL to 
accept revised plans, allow an extension of 
time until 31/12/2021 and delete wording: 
'Nothing other than solid inert material shall 
be tipped into Area 3 to backfill any voids and 
achieve new contours'

Permitted 08/03/2010

94/00004/MMFUL Restoration of former quarry area by infilling 
with wastes

Permitted 07/07/1999

15/00763/NONMAT Non-material amendment to condition 1 of 
planning permission 11/02052/WCMM to 
amend the restoration profile of inert 
materials in Area 1

Determined 10/06/2015

10/00650/WCMM Variation of conditions 3 and 4 of planning 
permission 00/00625/MMFUL to extend time 
limit for completion by a further 12 months 
and to retain recycling facility until 
31.12.2021

Permitted 04/02/2011

00/00625/MMFUL Extension to quarry for extraction of 
sand/gravel and restoration of agriculture 
using waste materials, new environmental 
management compound and additional 
recycling facility

Permitted 29/01/2002

14/01307/MMFUL Provision of an in-vessel composting facility 
and retention and extension of the existing 
recycling facility

Permitted 31/07/2015

14/00477/MMFUL Provision of leachate treatment lagoons and 
a discharge pipeline

Permitted 29/05/2014

11/01921/WCMM Section 73 application for non-compliance of 
conditions C2, C3, C9, C19 and C41 of 
planning permission 05/00353/MMFUL to 
extend the period for extraction for 5.5 years, 
and to amend the method of working, 
restoration and planting details, and noise 
and dust schemes at Tanholt Farm, Eye

Permitted 09/01/2015

13/01222/MMFUL Retention of aggregate processing plant, 
stocking area, lagoons and internal haul 
roads

Permitted 09/01/2015

13/01225/MMFUL Proposed extraction of sand and gravel from 
Tanholt Farm as an extension to the existing 
quarry on adjacent land, with restoration to 
agriculture, nature conservation and 
recreational uses

Permitted 09/01/2015

11/02052/WCMM Variation of conditions 1,  19 , 21 and 31 of 
planning permission 08/01562/WCMM to 
allow the acceptance of asbestos in 
dedicated cells and to increase the 
catchment area for asbestos

Permitted 27/04/2012

9



3 Planning Policy

Decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan policies below, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.

Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Mineral and Waste Core Strategy DPD (2011)

MW02 - Strategic Vision and Objectives for Sustainable Waste Management Development 
Growth will be supported by a network of waste management facilities which will deliver 
sustainable waste management.  The facilities will be 'new generation' which will achieve higher 
levels of waste recovery and recycling in line with relevant targets.  They will also be of high quality 
design and operation, contributing towards addressing climate change and minimising impacts on 
communities in Cambridgeshire and Peterborough.  There will be a network of stand alone facilities 
but also co-located facilities in modern waste management 'eco-parks'. The network will manage a 
wide range of wastes from the plan area, contributing to self sufficiency but also accommodating 
the apportioned waste residues from London or authorities in the East of England.  Any long 
distance movement of waste should be through sustainable transport means - such facilities will be 
safeguarded via Transport Zones.  A flexible approach regarding different types of suitable waste 
technology on different sites will be taken and Waste Consultation Areas and Waste Water 
Treatment Works Safeguarding Areas will be designated to safeguard waste management sites 
from incompatible development.  A proactive approach to sustainable construction and recycling 
will be taken and strategic developments will need to facilitate temporary waste facilities to 
maximise the reuse, recovery and recycling of inert and sustainable construction waste throughout 
the development period.  Where inert waste cannot be recycled it will be used in a positive manner 
to restore sites.  The natural and built historic environment will continue to be protected with an 
increased emphasis on operational practices which contribute towards climate change and 
minimise the impact of such development on local communities. (Policy CS2 sets out a list of 
strategic objectives to support this vision; those of relevance will be discussed in the body of the 
report).

MW14 - The Scale of Waste Management Provision 
Sets out the amounts of waste provision and timescales for the various types of waste 
management facility to be provided for by the Waste Planning Authority by 2026.

MW18 - Waste Management Proposals Outside Allocated Areas 
Waste management development proposals outside allocated areas will be considered favourably 
where they meet the listed criteria.

MW19 - The Location of Hazardous Waste Facilities - Resource Recovery and Landfill 
Where there is a demonstrated need for additional stable non reactive hazardous waste landfill 
capacity (to that allocated at Addenbrookes Hospital) provision will be made within existing landfill 
sites.  Where there is a demonstrated need for additional hazardous waste sites proposals will be 
considered in the context of the development plan.

MW22 - Climate Change 
Minerals and waste proposals will need to take account of climate change over the lifetime of the 
development, setting out how this will be achieved.  Proposals will need to adopt emissions 
reduction measures and will need to set out how they will be resilient to climate change.  
Restoration schemes which contribute to climate change adaption will be encouraged.

MW23 - Sustainable Transport of Minerals and Waste 
Sustainable transport of minerals and waste will be encouraged and new and enhanced facilities to 
enable this will be encouraged.  Transport Zones and Transport Safeguarding Areas will be 
defined and designated in the Site Specific Proposals Plan.  There will be a presumption against 
development which could prejudice a protected area for transport of minerals and/or waste.

MW25 - Restoration and Aftercare of Mineral and Waste Management Sites 

10



Minerals workings and waste management sites will be restored to a beneficial afteruse with 
aftercare arrangements.  Restoration proposals will be considered on a site by site basis but must 
meet the criteria set out in the policy.

MW29 - The Need for Waste Management Development and the Movement of Waste 
Proposals for new or extended waste management development will be permitted where they meet 
a demonstrated need within Cambridgeshire and Peterborough. Applicants will be required to enter 
into binding restrictions on catchment area, tonnages and/or types of waste. Permission may be 
granted for development involving importation of waste from outside the Plan area where it is 
demonstrated it is sustainable.

MW32 - Traffic and Highways 
Minerals and Waste development will only be permitted where it meets the criteria set out in this 
policy.

MW35 - Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
Mineral and waste management development will only be permitted where there will likely be no 
significant adverse effect on local nature conservation or geological interest.  Where it is 
demonstrated there are overriding benefits to the development compensation and/or mitigation 
measures must be put in place.  Proposals for new habitat creation must have regard to the 
Peterborough Biodiversity Action Plan and supporting Habitat and Species Action Plans.

MW36 - Archaeology and the Historic Environment 
Minerals and waste development will not be permitted where there is an adverse effect on a 
designated heritage asset, historic landscape or other historic asset of national importance and/or 
its setting unless substantial public benefits outweigh the harm, or any significant adverse impact 
on a site of local architectural, archaeological or historical importance.  Development may be 
permitted where appropriate mitigation measures are in place following consideration of the results 
of prior evaluation.

MW39 - Water Resources and Water Pollution Prevention 
Mineral and waste management development will only be permitted where it is demonstrated there 
is no significant adverse impact or risk to;

a. Quantity or quality of groundwater/water resources
b. Quantity or quality of water enjoyed by current abstractors unless alternative provision is made
c. Flow of groundwater in or near the site

Adequate water pollution control measures will need to be incorporated.

4 Consultations/Representations

PCC Wildlife Officer (22.07.15)
No objections. The proposals enable acceptable timings for the translocations of protected species 
from cells 6, 7 and 8 to the wildlife corridor which provides a suitable receptor area.

Natural England - Consultation Service (13.07.15)
No comments.

Environment Agency (22.07.15)
No objections.

Eye Parish Council (24.07.15)
No comments.

Ramblers (Central Office) (28.07.15)
No comments.

11



Local Residents/Interested Parties 

Initial consultations: 100
Total number of responses: 1
Total number of objections: 1
Total number in support: 0

Concerns regarding the disposal of asbestos and wind born contamination.

5 Assessment of the planning issues

The main considerations are:

- The principle of development
- Contamination risks
- Ecology
- Other matters

The principle of development.
The principle of development of this nature at the site has been previously approved and is not in 
dispute. The applicant is seeking to amend the location of SNRHW cells and phase ordering for 
two principal reasons; 1) to ensure optimal ecology benefit in relation to the translocation of 
species from cells 6-8 to the wildlife corridor, and 2) for optimal site operational purposes; both of 
which are considered to be justifiable in terms of approving development proposals that accord 
with the development plan without delay. The asbestos contamination concerns outlined in the 
representation have previously been addressed both through the planning and Environmental 
Permitting control systems, the re-alignment of the SNRHW (asbestos) cells does not affect the 
control systems in place at the site to prevent contamination, and these are considered to be 
appropriate.

Contamination risks
Waste materials have previously been deposited within Cells 4 and 5. The proposed new cell 
sequence will delay the excavation of these materials and their deposit within cells (at the site) 
engineered in accordance with modern engineering waste disposal techniques. Monitoring results 
demonstrate that the delay in excavation of these materials is having, and will have, a negligible 
impact on the surface water environment. Furthermore, the Environment Agency have raised no 
objections to the proposals which will result in a delay in the excavation and re-deposit of waste 
materials from cells 4 and 5 in modern engineered landfill containment cells.

Ecology
The wildlife corridor has been maturing for 7 years and is in prime condition to receive protected 
species from cells 6 - 8. Species translocation has been undertaken (during 2015) from cells 6 - 8. 
The extant sequence of infilling would require the recently cleared area to be filled after cells 4 and 
5, and would require ongoing works to ensure the area does not provide suitable habitat for 
species to return to the area.

Other matters
All conditions, including those applicable to the non-material permission, reference 
15/00763/NONMAT, have been reviewed to ensure they are applicable, relevant and up to date, 
and have been updated accordingly.

6 Conclusions

The NPPF states that there is a presumption in favour of sustainable development - in terms of 
decision taking this means approving development proposals that accord with the development 
plan without delay. The principle of development is in accordance with Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy policy CS2.

12



The proposal is demonstrably sustainable and the Environment Agency have no objections to the 
relocation of SNRHW cells or the amended phase ordering resulting in waste materials in cells 4 
and 5 remaining in situ longer than expected. The proposals ensure the optimal use of the wildlife 
corridor and minimise the potential for habitat to be recreated in cells 6-8 prior to infilling. The 
previous conditions have been assessed for their suitability and updated as required. No issues 
have been raised by statutory consultees, and no representations received. There is no reason not 
to approve the application in line with Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compensation Act.

7 Recommendation

The Director of Growth and Regeneration recommends that Amendment to an existing Planning 
Permission is GRANTED subject to the following conditions:
 
C 1 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in complete accordance with the 

following details: 

1. "Eye Southern Extension Landfill: Planning application - SNRHW (Asbestos) Cells" dated 
November 2011 (including Environmental Statement Update Report)
2. Environmental Statement and Appendices, Golder November 2008 
3. Letter from Golder (inc. annexes 1 - 23) dated 28 March 2011
4. The following plans:

 PAS1 Site Location Plan ref. E5038200 dated 25/07/2008
 PAS2 Planning Application Boundary ref. E5038300 dated 

25/07/2008
 PAS3 Site Layout and Waste Deposition E5038402 dated 

22/09/2015 Rev 2
 PAS4 Site Reception and Vehicle Movements ref. E5038500 dated 

21/08/2008
 PAS5 Post-Settlement Post-Restoration Levels ref. E5038602 dated 

23/04/2015 Rev 1
 PAS6 Restoration Landform and Planting Scheme ref. E5038702 

dated 23/04/2015 Rev 1
 PAS7 Design of Stable Non Reactive Hazardous Waste Cells ref. 

E5039000 dated 20/10/2011
 PAS8 Cross Section through Cell 3 ref. E5039100 dated 20/10/2011
 ES3.2 Leachate Management Layout (Revision A) Ref. E5034201 

dated 20/10/2011
 ES3.4 Landfill Gas Management (Revision A) ref. E5034401 dated 

20/10/2011
 ES3.5 Pre-settlement Pre-Restoration Levels E5034502 dated 

27/05/2015 Rev 2
      as amended by:
 Supporting Statement, Report No. 1526131.513/A.0 dated June 2015
 Environmental Statement Addendum Report, No. 1526131.514/A.0 

dated June 2015

Reason: In the interests of protecting the amenity of adjacent occupiers and to minimise the 
duration and disturbance from the development in accordance with policy CS2 of the 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy Development Plan 
Document 2011.

 
C 2 This permission shall be for a limited period expiring on 31 December 2021 at which time 

the waste deposition authorised by this permission shall cease and the land reinstated to a 
condition suitable for agricultural use in accordance with PAS 6 Restoration Landform and 
Planting Scheme ref E5038700, amended as appropriate by Ecological and Landscaping 

13



considerations set out in Conditions 3 and 26. The scheme shall be implemented in 
accordance with the approved details.

Reason: In the interests of protecting the amenity of adjacent occupiers and to minimise the 
duration of disturbance from the development in accordance with policy CS2 of the 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy Development Plan 
Document 2011.

 
C 3 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the Ecological Management Plan 

for Wildlife Corridor and Lakes Area, as amended by letter from Golder dated 10/09/08 and 
drawing E5038700 dated 01/04/08.

Reason: In order to protect and enhance the biodiversity value of the site in accordance 
with policy CS35 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core 
Strategy Development Plan Document 2011.

C 4 A vehicle wheel cleaning facility shall be kept operational at all times for the duration of the 
life of the site and internal traffic arrangements must ensure that any vehicle entering onto 
the public highway passes through the facility for the duration of the landfill and restoration 
operations hereby permitted.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with policies CS32 and CS34 of 
the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy Development 
Plan Document 2011.

 
C 5 Vehicular access shall only be gained from the existing point of access from the public 

highway.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with policy CS32 of the 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy Development Plan 
Document 2011.

 
C 6 The surface of the site access road shall be kept clean by regular mechanical sweeping to 

ensure mud and other detritus is not deposited on the public highway.

Reason: To ensure that mud and dirt is not deposited on Eyebury Road in the interests of 
highway safety in accordance with policies CS32 and CS34 of the Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy Development Plan Document 2011.

 
C 7 The operations hereby permitted shall only be carried out between the following times:-

07.00 - 18.00 hours Monday to Friday
07.00 - 18.00 hours Saturdays

and at no other times or on Sundays, Public Holidays or bank holidays.

Reason: To minimise disturbance to residential or rural amenity from the development in 
accordance with policy CS34 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste 
Core Strategy Development Plan Document 2011.

 
C 8 Soil stripping and soil replacement operations within 250 metres of any residential property 

shall only be carried out between the hours of 08.00 to 17.00 Mondays to Fridays. 

Reason: To minimise disturbance to residential or rural amenity from the development in 
accordance with policy CS34 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste 
Core Strategy Development Plan Document 2011.

 

14



C 9 The previously tipped putrescible wastes in Area 3 (i.e. Cells 4 and 5), as identified in the 
ES Volume 3 Ch 5, shall be excavated and deposited in an engineered containment cell 
constructed within Area 2 in accordance with the mitigation measures outlined in the ES 
Volume 2 Ch 5.2.7.

Reason: To ensure the protection of water resources in accordance with policies CS39 and 
CS46 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy 
Development Plan Document 2011.

 
C10 The scheme for Soil Movement and Phasing shall be implemented in accordance with the 

Soil Movement and Phasing Plan Ref. 1526131.516/A.2 dated September 2015.

Reason: To protect the existing soil resource in accordance with policy CS38 of the 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy Development Plan 
Document 2011.

 
C11 The applicant shall give at least seven days notice in writing to the Mineral Planning 

Authority prior to the commencement of topsoil and subsoil stripping. Soil stripping shall 
only be carried out when the full depth of the soil to be stripped or otherwise transported is 
in a suitable dry moisture condition and not at all between the months of October and 
March. Topsoil shall first be stripped from any subsoil storage areas. Topsoil and subsoil 
shall first be stripped from any clay or over burden storage area.

Reason: To protect the existing soil resource in accordance with policy CS38 of the 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy Development Plan 
Document 2011.

 
C12 Plant and vehicles shall not cross areas of unstripped topsoil and subsoil except for the 

purposes of soil stripping.

Reason: To protect the existing soil resource in accordance with policy CS38 of the 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy Development Plan 
Document 2011.

 
C13 Dust control measures including a powered water bowser shall be employed to dampen 

down internal hard roads and operational areas as required during dry weather to prevent 
dust or wind blown materials being carried onto adjacent property.

Reason: In order to protect the amenity of adjacent occupiers in accordance with policy 
CS34 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy 
Development Plan Document 2011.

 
C14 Any chemical storage above ground and refuelling facilities shall be bunded to at least 

110% of the tank capacity and constructed on an impermeable base with an independent 
sealed drainage system with no direct discharge to any watercourse, land or underground 
strata.

Reason: To protect the water environment in accordance with policy CS39 of the 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy Development Plan 
Document 2011.

 
C15 Except for temporary operations, the free field Noise Level (LAeq, 1hr) at noise sensitive 

premises adjoining the site, due to operations in the site, shall not exceed 50 dB LAeq, 1hr. 
Measurements taken shall have regard to the effects of extraneous noise and shall be 
corrected for any such effects.

15



Reason: To ensure that operations are carried out in a manner which will safeguard the 
amenity of the area and minimise disturbance to the amenity of the nearby residential 
properties in accordance with policy CS34 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 
Minerals and Waste Core Strategy Development Plan Document 2011.

 
C16 For temporary operations, the free field noise level at noise sensitive properties shall not 

exceed 65 LAeq, 1hr expressed as in the same manner as for Condition 15. Temporary 
operations shall not exceed a total of eight weeks in any continuous 12 month period for 
work affecting any noise sensitive property. Five days written notice shall be given to the 
Mineral Planning Authority in advance of the commencement of any temporary operation. 
Temporary operations shall include site preparation, bund formation and removal, site 
stripping and restoration, and any other temporary activity as may be agreed, in advance of 
works taking place, with the Mineral Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure that operations are carried out in a manner which will safeguard the 
amenity of the area and minimise disturbance to the amenity of the nearby residential 
properties in accordance with policy CS34 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 
Minerals and Waste Core Strategy Development Plan Document 2011.

 
C17 Reversing alarms - model BBS-107 Heavy Duty Backalarm by Brigade Electronics, shall be 

used on all items of mobile plant and trucks which require reversing alarms and will be 
functioning in all locations at the quarry where such plant items and dump trucks operate.

Reason: To ensure that operations are carried out in a manner which will safeguard the 
amenity of the area, and minimise disturbance to the amenity of the nearby residential 
properties in accordance with policy CS34 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 
Minerals and Waste Core Strategy Development Plan Document 2011.

 
C18 All reasonable precautions to prevent the spread of litter from the working area including 

the provision of catch fencing shall be taken. Any litter from the site which is deposited on 
nearby land shall be removed and returned to the infill site.

Reason: In order to protect the amenity of nearby residential occupiers in accordance with 
policy CS34 in accordance with policy CS34 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 
Minerals and Waste Core Strategy Development Plan Document 2011.

 
C19 The landfill gas management and landfill leachate management systems shall be 

implemented in accordance with the approved details as amended by letter from Golder 
dated 31 July 2008 and drawings ES3.2 (ref. E5034201) and ES3.4 (ref. E5034401) dated 
20/10/2011. Implementation of the systems will ensure that:
The gas and leachate well heads are of a design that does not become an unseen 
obstruction to agricultural machinery.

Reason: To prevent pollution and to ensure the beneficial restoration of the land to 
agriculture in accordance with policy CS25 in accordance with policy CS34 of the 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy Development Plan 
Document 2011.

 
C20 Any waste skips/containers shall only be stored in the area marked 'Bin Area' on drawing 

PAS3 Site Layout and Waste Deposition E5038402 Rev 2 dated 22/09/2015.

Reason: In order to protect the amenity of nearby residential occupiers in accordance with 
policy CS34 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy 
Development Plan Document 2011.

 

16



C21 Pre-settlement levels will be determined in accordance with the approved scheme 'Pre-
Settlement Waste Levels' dated May 2008 as amended by drawing ES3.5 Pre-Settlement 
Pre-Restoration Levels, ref. E5034502 Rev 2  dated 27/05/2015.

Reason: In order to protect the visual amenity of the area in accordance with policy CS33 of 
the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy Development 
Plan Document 2011.

 
C22 Following the completion of capping or inert landfill subsoil shall be re-spread across the 

surface to a minimum depth of 700mm.  Following spreading the subsoil shall be ripped 
with a winged tine subsoiler at a spacing and depth to be approved by the Mineral Planning 
Authority.  All rocks, stones and other deleterious material in excess of 100mm in size 
which arise during subsoiling shall be removed from the site.

Reason: To ensure the agricultural quality of the restored soils in accordance with policy 
CS38 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy 
Development Plan Document 2011.
 

C23 Following the spreading of subsoil in accordance with Condition 23 topsoil shall be re-
spread evenly over the surface to a depth of 300mm.  The surface shall then be subsoiled 
(ripped) to a depth of 400mm with tines spaced at 600mm.  Any stones larger than 75mm in 
size that arise from the subsoiling (ripping) shall be removed.

Reason: To ensure the agricultural quality of the restored soils in accordance with policy 
CS38 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy 
Development Plan Document 2011.

 
C24 Following the spreading of topsoil an adequate number of samples of topsoil shall be 

analysed to determine fertiliser and other ameliorates required to promote normal plant 
growth.  The results of these analyses shall be forwarded to the Mineral Planning Authority 
and details of treatment, seed mixtures and rate of application shall be approved in writing 
by the Mineral Planning Authority prior to their application.

Reason: To ensure the agricultural quality of the restored soils in accordance with policy 
CS38 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy 
Development Plan Document 2011.

 
C25 An Aftercare Scheme requiring that such steps as may be necessary to bring the land to 

the required standard for the use of agriculture shall be submitted for the approval of the 
Mineral Planning Authority not later than three months prior to the date on which it is first 
expected that the replacement of topsoil shall take place.
The submitted Scheme shall:
(a)   Provide an outline strategy in accordance with the Technical Guidance to the National 
Planning Policy Framework March 2012 for the five year Aftercare period.  This shall 
specify steps to be taken and the period during which they are to be taken.  The Scheme 
shall include provision of a field / under drainage system and provide for an annual meeting 
between the applicants, the Mineral Planning Authority and 'an appropriately qualified 
person'.
(b)   Provide for a detailed annual programme, in accordance with the Technical Guidance 
to the National Planning Policy Framework March 2012 to be submitted to the Mineral 
Planning Authority not later than two months prior to the annual aftercare meeting.
Unless the Mineral Planning Authority, after consultation with 'an appropriately qualified 
person', agree in writing with the person or persons responsible for undertaking the 
aftercare steps that there shall be lesser steps or a different timing between steps, the 
aftercare shall be carried out in accordance with the submitted Scheme.

17



Reason: To ensure the agricultural quality of the restored soils in accordance with policy 
CS38 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy 
Development Plan Document 2011.

 
C26 The phased landscaping scheme encompassing advance and restoration planting set out in 

''Eye Landfill Southern Phased Landscape Restoration'' dated May 2008, as amended by 
approved drawing PAS 6 Restoration Landform and Planting Scheme ref E503870 dated 
01/04/08, shall be implemented as approved, subject to the planting details on the revised 
plan being amended to those set out in;
 planting details for Scrub Mix, and provision for additional neutral grassland north of 

hedge 5, as set out in letter from Golder dated 10th September 2008, 
 ''Site Compartment Plan'' ref E5033800 dated July 2008 in the Ecological 

Management Plan.

Reason: In order to protect the visual amenity of the local area in accordance with policy 
CS33 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy 
Development Plan Document 2011.

 
C27 The development shall be implemented in accordance with the details approved under 

Condition 26.  Any seeding or planting which is removed, dies or becomes diseased within 
a period of five years from initial planting shall be replaced with planting of a similar size 
and species during the next planting season.

Reason: In order to protect the amenity of adjacent occupiers in accordance with policy 
CS34 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy 
Development Plan Document 2011.

 
C28 Should for any reason infilling cease for a period in excess of twelve months, the applicant 

shall upon written request from the Mineral Planning Authority produce a scheme for the 
written approval of the Mineral Planning Authority for the restoration of the site, including a 
schedule of timings, provision for seals and soiling and agricultural operations in similar 
manner to that referred to in the aforementioned conditions.

All restoration work, with the exception of aftercare shall be completed in accordance with 
the approved scheme within eighteen months of the scheme being approved.

Reason: In order to protect the visual amenity of the site and to ensure its restoration to 
beneficial afteruse in accordance with policies CS25 and CS34 of the Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy Development Plan Document 2011.

 
C29 At least 80% by weight of the non-hazardous waste brought into the site for landfilling in the 

area the subject of this permission (known as the southern extension) shall be sourced 
from the following areas:
1. the administrative area of Peterborough City Council
2. the administrative area of Cambridgeshire County Council
3. within a radius of 45 kilometres from the site

Weighbridge records shall be submitted to the Mineral Planning Authority annually on a 
date to be agreed with the operator, and shall set out the originating location and the type 
of waste imported to the site or shall be made available to the Mineral Planning Authority 
within one week of such request.

Reason: To limit the area from which waste can be imported to seek to ensure that waste is 
treated at the nearest appropriate facility and that transportation is limited as far as 
practicable in accordance with CS29 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals 
and Waste Core Strategy Development Plan Document 2011 and policy WM3 of the East 
of England Plan 2008.

18



 

C30 The total number of HCV movements for the purposes of all operations and development 
undertaken pursuant to quarrying, mineral processing, waste disposal and waste 
processing within the quarry shall not exceed:

(a)  450 per day between Monday and Friday inclusive
(b)  230 per day on Saturdays

and at no other times or on Sundays, Public Holidays and Bank Holidays.

Reason: To minimise disturbance to residential or rural amenity from the development in 
accordance with policies CS32 and CS34 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 
Minerals and Waste Core Strategy Development Plan Document 2011.

 
Copies to Councillor D A Sanders and R Brown

19



This page is intentionally left blank

20



21



This page is intentionally left blank

22



Planning and EP Committee 13 October 2015    Item 2

Application Ref: 15/01086/R4FUL 

Proposal: Creation of a new external sports pitch (3G Artificial Grass Pitch) with 
perimeter ball-stop fencing, floodlights (artificial lighting), access and 
outdoor storage for maintenance equipment and onsite vehicular parking

Refurbishment and extension of pavilion to form new changing rooms 
accommodation with administration facilities.

Site: Sports Ground, Fulbridge Road, Peterborough, 
Applicant: Mr Stephen Munday, The Voyager Academy
Agent: Mr Tom Betts, Surfacing Standards Ltd

Referred by: Werrington Neighbourhood Council and Councillor Fower 
Reason: Unacceptable impact upon the amenities of neighbouring occupants; 

traffic concerns; impact upon wildlife 
Site visit: 21.09.2015

Case officer: Miss Louise Lovegrove
Telephone No. 01733 454439
E-Mail: louise.lovegrove@peterborough.gov.uk

Recommendation: GRANT subject to relevant conditions    

1 Description of the site and surroundings and Summary of the proposal

Site and Surroundings
The application site comprises a grass playing field which is a satellite site associated with The 
Voyager Academy school.  The total site area extends to approximately 1.9 hectares and is located 
to the rear of residential properties along Fulbridge Road (to the east), Brookside (to the south) and 
Storrington Way (to the west).  To the north of the site is a large area of overgrown scrub land and 
the residential cul-de sac of Walnut Close.  

Vehicular access to the site is granted via a junction onto Brookside albeit this has no formalised 
markings.  There is no formal car parking provision at present, albeit there is a hard surfaced 
turning head to the south-eastern corner.  

The site includes a run down and almost derelict single storey pavilion building situated to the 
north-eastern corner of the site.  

Proposal
The application seeks planning permission for the following:

 Construction of an all-weather third generation pitch (AWP) with associated floodlighting 
(columns to a maximum height of 15 metres) and fencing;

 Renovation and extension of the existing pavilion;
 Construction of a hardsurfaced car parking and turning area with 32 parking bays and 2 mini-

bus parking bays;
 Earthworks to create noise attenuation bunds along the southern, western and eastern 

boundaries of the site; 
 Construction of hardsurfacing to the northern boundary of the site to provide pedestrian 

access to the AWP; and
 Off-site highway works to formalise the vehicular access onto Brookside.

1

23



The scheme has been amended from that which was originally submitted in order to address the 
comments raised by the City Council’s Wildlife Officer, Drainage Engineer and the Local Highway 
Authority.  This has resulted in the relocation of the sports pitch slightly to the south, amendment to 
the lighting layout, amendment to the internal car parking layout, off-site highway works and 
provision of a French drain along the southern and western boundaries. 
 
2 Planning History

Reference Proposal Decision Date
14/01026/R4FUL Siting of a Portacabin (Retrospective) Withdrawn 26/11/2014

3 Planning Policy

Decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan policies below, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.

National Planning Policy Framework (2012)

Section 8 - Social, Cultural and Recreational Facilities 
Developments should plan for the provision and use of shared space, community services and 
other local services; guard against the unnecessary loss of valued services/facilities; allow 
established shops, facilities and services to develop/modernise; and ensure an integrated 
approach to the location of housing, economic uses and communities facilities and services.

Section 8 - Open Space 
Existing open space, sports and recreational buildings/land (including playing fields) should not be 
built on unless an assessment has been undertaken which clearly shows the open space is surplus 
to requirements; the open space would be replaced by an equivalent or better provision; or the 
development is for alternative sports and recreation provision, the needs for which clearly outweigh 
the loss.

Section 11 - Biodiversity 
Development resulting in significant harm to biodiversity or in the loss of/deterioration of 
irreplaceable habitats should be refused if the impact cannot be adequately mitigated, or 
compensated.  Proposals to conserve or enhance biodiversity should be permitted and 
opportunities to incorporate biodiversity into new development encouraged.  

Development within or outside a Site of Special Scientific Interest or other specified sites should 
not normally be permitted  where an adverse effect on the site's notified special interest features is 
likely. An exception should only be made where the benefits clearly outweigh the impacts. 

The presumption in favour of sustainable development does not apply where development 
requiring Appropriate Assessment under the Birds or Habitats Directives is being considered or 
determined.

Section 11 - Noise 
New development giving rise to unacceptable adverse noise impacts should be resisted; 
development should mitigate and reduce to a minimum other adverse impacts on health and 
quality of life arising. Development often creates some noise and existing businesses wanting to 
expand should not be unreasonably restricted because of changes in nearby land uses.

Section 11 - Light Pollution 
Lighting should be designed to limit pollution on local amenity, intrinsically dark landscapes and 
areas of nature conservation.

Section 12 - Conservation of Heritage Assets 

2

24



Account should be taken of the desirability of sustaining/enhancing heritage assets; the positive 
contribution that they can make to sustainable communities including economic viability; and the 
desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character and 
distinctiveness.  When considering the impact of a new development great weight should be given 
to the asset’s conservation.  

Planning permission should be refused for development which would lead to substantial harm to or 
total loss of significance unless this is necessary to achieve public benefits that outweigh the 
harm/loss.  In such cases all reasonable steps should be taken to ensure the new development will 
proceed after the harm/ loss has occurred.

Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011)

CS14 - Transport 
Promotes a reduction in the need to travel, sustainable transport, the Council’s UK Environment 
Capital aspirations and development which would improve the quality of environments for 
residents.

CS16 - Urban Design and the Public Realm 
Design should be of high quality, appropriate to the site and area, improve the public realm, 
address vulnerability to crime, be accessible to all users and not result in any unacceptable impact 
upon the amenities of neighbouring residents.

CS17 - The Historic Environment 
Development should protect, conserve and enhance the historic environment including non-
scheduled nationally important features and buildings of local importance.

CS18 - Culture, Leisure and Tourism 
Development of new cultural, leisure and tourism facilities will be encouraged particularly in the city 
centre.

CS21 - Biodiversity and Geological Conservation 
Development should conserve and enhance biodiversity/ geological interests unless no alternative 
sites are available and there are demonstrable reasons for the development.

CS22 - Flood Risk 
Development in Flood Zones 2 and 3 will only be permitted if specific criteria are met. Sustainable 
drainage systems should be used where appropriate.

Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012)

PP02 - Design Quality 
Permission will only be granted for development which makes a positive contribution to the built 
and natural environment; does not have a detrimental effect on the character of the area; is 
sufficiently robust to withstand/adapt to climate change; and is designed for longevity.

PP03 - Impacts of New Development 
Permission will not be granted for development which would result in an unacceptable loss of 
privacy, public and/or private green space or natural daylight; be overbearing or cause noise or 
other disturbance, odour or other pollution; fail to minimise opportunities for crime and disorder.

PP12 - The Transport Implications of Development 
Permission will only be granted if appropriate provision has been made for safe access by all user 
groups and there would not be any unacceptable impact on the transportation network including 
highway safety.

PP13 - Parking Standards 

3

25



Permission will only be granted if appropriate parking provision for all modes of transport is made 
in accordance with standards.

PP16 - The Landscaping and Biodiversity Implications of Development 
Permission will only be granted for development which makes provision for the retention of trees 
and natural features which contribute significantly to the local landscape or biodiversity.

PP17 - Heritage Assets 
Development which would affect a heritage asset will be required to preserve and enhance the 
significance of the asset or its setting.  Development which would have detrimental impact will be 
refused unless there are overriding public benefits.

4 Consultations/Representations

Werrington Neighbourhood Council (18.08.15)
Objection on the following grounds:
 The proposals are completely unsuitable for this location. It is too close to residential 

properties which will suffer an unacceptable loss of amenity from noise, light and intrusion.
 We do not appear to have the highway comments but if the use is to be continuous and 

significant it does seem to create real problems around the access road and the junction with 
Fulbridge Road.

 The use of the site for school football is accepted but this is of a completely different order with 
late evening use. 

 There are better places for this type of facility where the investment can be fully utilised 
without serious implications for residents.

 Hours of use would seem to be a crunch point but even if the use was restricted to a more 
reasonable hour, the fencing and increased intensity of use would make it a very bad 
neighbour. In this quiet environment the continual shouting associated with competitive football 
will have significant impact on the enjoyment and amenity of the significant number of 
surrounding properties especially at weekends.

PCC Tree Officer (13.08.15)
No objections - The trees/shrubs surrounding the site should not be impacted by the creation of the 
bunds.

Environment Agency (24.09.15)
No objections - The environmental risk is considered relatively low.

PCC Pollution Team (14.09.15)
No objections - In over 25 years experience, no noise nuisance complaints have been encountered 
in relation to football matches.  In addition, there are examples at Glinton and Northborough of 
such facilities in close proximity to residential properties.  A condition should be imposed relating to 
compliance of the floodlighting with the Institute of Lighting Engineers guidance for the reduction of 
obtrusive light.  Consideration should also be given to imposing suitable hours of use.

PCC Wildlife Officer (18.09.15)
No objections - The revisions to the proposal will ensure dark corridors are maintained for bat 
populations. Request conditions relating to lower lighting levels during bat activity months and 
protection of trenches to ensure mammals do not become trapped.

Archaeological Officer (21.09.15)
No objections - The evaluation that has taken place is sufficient and no further work is deemed 
necessary.

Police Architectural Liaison Officer (23.09.15)
No objections - The use of bollard lighting columns to the car park is not sufficient as not enough 
lighting is provided when cars are parked close to them.  The security of the pavilion is also of vital 

4

26



importance as this is likely to be of high interest to miscreants.

PCC Transport & Engineering Services (23.09.15)
No objections - The existing D2 use of the site shall not change and the proposal would solely 
upgrade the existing sports pitch to a MUGA.  The existing access to the site is of an adequate 
width however formalisation through 'give-way' markings and vehicle-to-vehicle visibility splays 
should be provided.  There is adequate on-site parking and turning for all vehicles.

Lead Local Drainage Authority (17.09.15)
No objections - Whilst the submitted drawings show a French drain being provided along the 
southern and western boundaries, details of this are still required along with flow rates and 
acceptance from Anglian Water for the discharge.

Sport England (12.08.15)
No objections - The proposal meets with the Exception Policy as it would involve the upgrading of 
a sports facility.  Request a condition limiting the hours of use to 8am-10pm Monday to Friday and 
8am-8pm Saturday/Sunday/Bank Holiday.

Local Residents/Interested Parties 
Please note that the number of representations detailed below are correct as of 23rd September 
2015.  There is a revised period of consultation underway which will not expire until 2nd October 
2015.  Any additional representations received in the intervening period will be presented within the 
Briefing Update Report.  

Initial consultations: 40
Total number of responses: 184
Total number of objections: 33
Total number in support: 144

33 objections have been received from immediately surrounding local residents (except 1 which 
came from elsewhere in the City).  Their objections are on the following grounds: 

Neighbour amenity - noise
 The development proposal is not compatible with the quiet residential development of 

Brookside where I have lived and enjoyed living for the past 22 years (No.15 Brookside). 
 Residents should be able to sit in their houses and gardens in peace and quiet for at least 

some of the time. Noise pollution will affect resident’s enjoyment of their homes.  This already 
occurs from time to time at weekends when teams are playing and there is shouting from noisy 
players and spectators.  The situation will be far worse with heavy evening and weekend 
usage.  

 There will inevitably be a level of bad language that we will be forced to put up with.  
 This is a quiet retired area (Storrington Way) and elderly people can do without the 

disturbance that this would impose on us. 
 At present the site is not well used and the proposal will increase noise and general 

disturbance, particularly from cars.  The proposed car park will be directly behind my house 
(Fulbridge Road).

 Although the application states that action will be taken to limit noise levels on the field, I 
believe (No.9 Brookside) that the noise of people coming on/off the field and traffic 
entering/leaving the area will be unacceptable, particularly in the evening.  

 The bunds along the western and southern boundaries are not continuous and therefore will 
not act as a measure to mitigate noise but instead amplify it.  

 The predicted noise levels within the Environmental Noise Report are predicted from modelling 
exercise and may, in practice, not truly reflect the impact on residents or be accurate.  They do 
not take into account weather conditions which can amplify sounds, alter its direction or take 
into account any acoustic ‘skip over’ of the bunds which will affect first floor windows.  

 The sports sessions are proposed to end at 22:00 hours however the noise will continue with 
users of the changing rooms, as well as slamming car doors, voices and vehicles leaving the 

5

27



site. 
 The predicted noise levels are optimistic and pay insufficient attention to multiple noise 

generating events, peak noise, duration, the effects on first floor windows and inadequacies of 
the acoustic mitigation features.  The impact will be unacceptable.  

Neighbour amenity – light spillage
 The light pollution will affect residents of Brookside and detract from the enjoyment of their 

houses and gardens.  It is difficult to assess how bad this will be, but on autumn and winter 
nights there is likely to be a serious effect with the sports ground lit up like a football stadium. 

 The lights would be a significant problem both in height and intensity, as well as the duration of 
the time that it would be on for.

 The floodlights will disturb by sleeping at night.  
 The assessment of the existing site as falling within Environmental Zone E2 is a fair appraisal.  

The use of floodlighting as well as ancillary lighting to the car park/accommodation areas will 
drastically alter this. 

 It is a concern that overspill lighting contours are at ground level (height of 1.75 metres) and 
that above this the light will be increasingly intrusive.  

 There are also possibilities of cloud glare and light refraction from low cloud.  This will funnel 
the light overspill.  

Neighbour amenity – loss of privacy/overbearing/overshadowing
 My garden (No.73 Storrington Way) is private at the moment but people standing on the bund 

will be able to see in. 
 The bunds and acoustic fencing will be too close to residential boundaries and will be ugly. 

They will also overbear and overshadow private gardens.  

Neighbour amenity – general
 I have had a robbery in the past (No.73 Storrington Way) where my fence was cut through to 

gain entry.  With the proposed bund, people will be able to cut their way onto my property 
whilst hidden from view.

 We presently have nice views out over a field, this will be ruined by the lighting columns and 
fencing.  

 This will affect the whole local community, not just the few neighbouring residents and the 
Applicant suggests.  

 As a resident of the Sugar Way development (No.16 Candy Street) I have to deal with similar 
adverse effects from the Riverside Pavilion, which has significantly more parking spaces and 
is situated further from houses.  Access to my driveway can be difficult at peak times for the 
pavilion’s activities and surrounding streets can be completely blocked because of cars 
entering/exiting the site.  Noise is an issue and the public cycle path into the City Centre is 
also affected by the increased traffic, with conflict between pedestrians, cyclists and drivers a 
regular occurrence.  

 The footing of the football pitch is too close to my fence (No.25 Brookside).
 The potential for throwing litter and missiles into gardens will be enhances as the bunding will 

provide cover from normal sight lines.  
 Our fence (No.427 Fulbridge Road) runs the entire length of Brookside and we are responsible 

for maintenance/repair when it gets damaged.  
 Groups of youths will loiter at the corner entrance of the site causing noise and keeping 

children awake.  The incidents of balls being kicked against the fence will increase and when 
we (No.427 Fulbridge Road) ask them to stop, we get foul language back. Litter will also 
increase.  

Hours of use 
 The current proposal envisages usage from 08:00 to 22:00 hours seven days a week and 

including Bank Holidays which is totally unacceptable. Whilst I don’t like these, during the 
week I have tried to adopt a pragmatic view.  However at weekends, sports fields would 
generally be used on a more limited basis, say 09:00 to 17:00 hours on a Saturday and on a 

6

28



Sunday 09:30/10:00 to 14:00 hours. There should be no usage at all on Bank Holidays.  If 
such usage is required, an alternative venue needs to be found. 

 Reassurance is required about the use and opening times of the building.  

Parking provision and traffic
 There is inadequate parking within the proposed development which is likely to give rise to 

overspill parking along Brookside. We have already experienced problems at weekends with 
cars parked along the grass verges and pavements along Brookside.  The proposal will only 
make this matter worse. 

 The suggestion that players will be dropped off and picked up later is laughable and has not 
been thought through properly. 

 There should be a total restriction to prevent burger vans, fish and chip vans or ice cream vans 
from accessing the site.  

 The junction into the site is dangerous and will cause an accident with lots more traffic.  
 The extra traffic will be at peak times which will cause delays. 
 Previous planning applications for housing have stumbled over using Brookside as an access 

route – it being deemed unsuitable for the volume of traffic.  I would expect traffic to peak at far 
higher volumes than residential uses.  

 Access and egress from Brookside are affected by the narrow nature of the entrance road, the 
bottle neck, the tight and narrow bend and the difficult (and busy) junction with Fulbridge Road 
and Gunthorpe Road.  

 The proposed parking area is insufficient and unrealistically small given the proposed use of 
the development.  

 Brookside was deliberately designed to be narrow and hard to park on because the houses 
have their own driveways.  It is not a street to park along and there will be incidents of 
driveways being blocked and perhaps the whole street being blocked entirely.  

 Large vehicles, such as minibuses and coaches, could reasonably be expected as part of the 
entourage accompanying a football game.  The street cannot cope with such vehicles as 
coaches cannot physically fit.  Parcel delivery vans and home removal vans have been known 
to block the street in the past.  

 Visitors will use the end of Brookside to turn and this will result in issues of privacy as well as 
noise and blockages.  

 The pedestrian access from Brookside, across Werrington Brook, to the Arundel Road estate 
and beyond is busy and used by many vulnerable demographics (children, families and the 
elderly) as a shortcut to Fulbridge Road and Gunthorpe Road.  A considerable increase in 
traffic will significantly increase the risk to these groups when they are trying to cross 
Brookside itself.  

 The predicted traffic generation figures accompanying the application are flawed and based on 
statistical assumptions that do not take into account human nature and its propensity not to do 
what is expected. 

 The bend and vehicle choke point into Brookside makes it difficult for two vehicles to pass and 
visibility is reduced.  

 Visibility onto Fulbridge Road is often impeded by parked cars.  Safety will be compromised as 
vehicles take changes to turn onto the road which frequently suffers from speeding motorists.

 Peak hours for the facility – 6pm to 10pm – will also conflict with increased vehicle usage by 
Brookside residents and their visitors.  This will inevitably cause issues as vehicles 
accessing/leaving the facility will meet with residential traffic. There is a financial imperative in 
the response from Sport England for these times to be used by the bigger spending adult 
teams.  Without this aspect, Sport England suggests that the project may not be financially 
viable.  

 The car parking is not sufficient for the number of users and spectators.  Also, there will be 
users waiting to play until the pitch is free, therefore doubling the amount of car parking 
required.  

 There will be no enforcement of parking and so visitors and players alike can park where they 
like, most likely along Brookside as overflow.  

 The proposed development does not meet with the ten key objectives of the Peterborough 

7

29



Local Transport Plan.  

Flooding and surface water run-off
 The proposed bunding would not stop the surface water entering onto my property (No.75 

Storrington Way) and may even make it worse. 
 The break in the banking at the bottom of our garden (No.77 Storrington Way) will collect all 

the surface water run off which will flow into the garden.  
 Concerned that the southern bund will negate the effectiveness of the French drain.
 The City Council’s Drainage Team report is incorrect as the surface water floods not only into 

Brookside but also to properties adjacent to the western boundary – Storrington Way.  

Ecology and wildlife
 There will be environmental impact from this major development, particularly caused by the 

loss of natural habitat caused by the artificial surface. 
 The extra tall ball stop fencing will act as a physical barrier to the wildlife that currently use the 

field and surrounding areas.  
 The site provides an oasis for wildlife in a residential area, attracting a wide variety of species.  

The loss of habitat through the proposed development will inevitably reduce the wildlife 
potential.  

Visual impact
 The 4.5 metre ball stop fence will be an eyesore, especially after it has caught a few months of 

litter.  
 The proposed commercial redevelopment and use of the field will be totally out of scale with 

what it was designed for and out of character with the current neighbourhood.  
 The whole development has an overbearing appearance of being shoehorned into a totally 

inadequate location both in terms of size and location.  The design will be visually obtrusive 
with overbearing high fences and ugly acoustic bunding.  

Consultation on the application
 The consultation on the application was a token gesture, with only those properties on the 

northern side of Brookside written to.  
 We feel we should have been informed about this development (No.14 Brookside).
 The neighbour notification letter telling residents about the application was misleading as it 

failed to include the intended hours of use.  This is a critical point and should have been 
highlighted, especially for local elderly residents or families with young children.  

 Residents on the northern side of Fulbridge Road did not receive notification letters.  

Other matters
 Has any consideration been given to how emergency vehicles will access Brookside if cars are 

parked all the way along? 
 The supporting material states that the pavilion will provide refreshments to the wider 

community.  What is being envisaged here is clearly some kind of commercial operation.  
 Concern regarding loss of property values. 
 The pitch is traversed by a large capacity cast iron water main.  This has been subject to 

several leaks causing flooding to houses in Brookside.  Are the developers proposing to 
engage with Anglian Water to mitigate the possibility of this happening as a result of the 
development?

 Voyager Academy and Ken Stimpson Community School both have facilities that could 
accommodate this type of development without such negative impact on nearby residents.  

 I live in close proximity to the proposed development (No.21 Brookside) and my property 
backs onto the proposed development.  I seek to offer the following suggestions for alternative 
locations which would be far less obtrusive and better placed for the proposed intensity of use:
 The frontage of Voyager Academy itself which would also be able to integrate with the 

existing facilities.  There is a larger area to accommodate vehicles and coaches, with 
much better and controlled access to the site.  Residential properties are at a greater 

8

30



distance and would therefore be less affected.  
 Open spaces around the Werrington Centre. 

 The role that Sport England is taking with this proposal is less than transparent.  The 
supporting planning application documents identify them as being a member of the partnership 
to redevelop the sports field and are a major funder.  Their comments on the planning 
application are clearly demonstrating a conflict of interest.  

 The role of Peterborough City Council in the application is unacceptable.  The supporting 
planning application documents identify that PCC are expected, but not confirmed, to provide 
funding to the scheme.  In addition, there is correspondence that states that PCC can be 
helpful should the application be refused.  I trust that the consideration of the planning 
application is undertaken in a fair and transparent manner.

In addition, Councillor Fower has also objected on the following grounds:
1. Impact on adjacent properties, specifically relating to light infiltration, noise, increase in traffic 

and parking overflow.
2. The impact on wildlife and the direct environment.
3. The failure to provide realistic alternative venues, thus projecting an image that this is the only 

option.
4. Operating hours will not be conducive to the neighbourhood.

144 letters of support (including a petition of 5 signatories) have been received from across the 
City area, with only 1 from the immediately surrounding residents.  The support is based upon the 
following grounds:
 Excellent opportunity to provide facilities on disused land that will promote healthy living, 

fitness and sport for young people. 
 Young boys deserve the opportunity to play football.
 Glinton and Northborough is an excellent football club, with a superb reputation and several 

FA awards, but they do not have a home. This excellent facility will enable over 400 players to 
have a modern facility that will enable them to be constructively engaged – surely a benefit to 
them and to society as a whole. 

 It would be the ideal home to an organised, community-focused football club.
 Will give sport to the local area.
 As the field to the rear of Brookside has always been a playing field, I cannot see why anyone 

could object to the renovation of a recreational area.  To move next to an amenity such as this, 
and then complain when it is better utilised, seems hypocritical at the very least. 

 There are as many residents in favour of this development as there are objectors.
 As long as the scheme is well-planned and thought through with residents in mind, which it 

seems to be, it will turn an unused eyesore into a facility for the whole community to use.
 It will provide much needed leisure facilities to all ages of the community – from children to 

adults.
 Will provide security for residents by rejuvenating an area previously targeted by delinquents. 
 It will enhance sports at Voyager school.
 It would undoubtedly bring additional income to surrounding businesses. 
 The land is being wasted at the moment and anything that improves the lives of youths can 

only be positive. 
 Would be of huge benefit to young people wanting to play football and get off the streets.
 Our coaches teach us not only football but how to behave and respect others.  The site will be 

great to set up as a home ground as normally only big clubs get the best places. 
 It would be a shame if all the community work the organisers and supporters do was not 

assisted with the approval of this application.  
 A community managed facility for the community is always a good idea.
 It is a necessity to keep facilities like these updated as we know the benefits regular exercise 

and team games have on children's (and consequently adults) wellbeing and health.
 It would be great to now see my son use a local weatherproof pitch and see future generations 

benefit from up to date facilities which are lacking for the North of Peterborough.
 This application should be considered because it creates lots of opportunities for young and 

9

31



old to create a happy social community.
 This is a great opportunity to encourage participation in sports in Peterborough, a city that 

prides itself on being environmentally advanced and indeed healthy living should be promoted 
too.

 Standards of performance will improve. 
 This will benefit many families in the surrounding villages. 
 Having a home would create the sense of belonging that all sports participants desire and with 

it, the ownership to ensure this facility is looked after and used to its full potential.
 Without more of these facilities many children will drop out of sport. It's worked for Netherton 

FC so why not here.
 This will provide an outlet for youngsters energy rather than them being left to wander 

aimlessly and get into trouble. 
 Local Council support is vital to the aspirations of parishioners and people of all ages. 
 There will be concern from local residents about the intensification of use however it appears 

that the Management Group have considered the immediate impact and have put in place 
procedures for continuing consultation and dialogue with the local community to resolve any 
issues.

 In the winter we have problems sourcing these kind of facilities and this can cause our children 
to miss training sessions which impacts on their health and wellbeing.

 Added security will increase property prices.

In addition, Councillor Sharp has also supported the proposal as follows:
I believe this meets the Council’s policy on growth of sport within Peterborough. This would be the 
first step towards making sure that football is developed further in Peterborough, and therefore I 
am in full support of this planning application going ahead.

5 Assessment of the planning issues

The main considerations are:
 Principle of development
 Design and impact upon the character and appearance of the surrounding area
 Neighbour amenity
 Parking, access and highway implications
 Ecology
 Surface water drainage
 Archaeology
 Trees and landscape implications 

a) Principle of development
As detailed in Section 1 above, the application site is presently a grass playing field with 
redundant pavilion and informal grass parking.  The proposal seeks to construct an all-weather 
floodlit pitch with associated improvements to the pavilion and car parking to enable use of the 
facility throughout the year and evenings.  It is intended that the resultant facility would not 
only be used by The Voyager Academy, but also by community groups with input from the 
Peterborough District Football League.  Both Policy CS18 of the Peterborough Core Strategy 
DPD (2011) and paragraph 70 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2012) (NPPF) seek 
to not only protect but also enhance existing leisure facilities in order to meet the demand for 
improving the range and quality of the City and surrounding areas. 

The proposal would clearly meet with this aim and would provide much needed improved 
sports facilities to the north of the Peterborough District.  The Peterborough Open Space 
Study update 2011 identifies that within Werrington South, there is a shortfall of 1 hectare of 
outdoor sports facilities and within the northern area as a whole (covering Paston, Walton and 
Werrington) there is a shortage of 5.1 hectares.  Whilst this document is now 4 years old, the 
position has not altered and, whilst the proposal would not provide new space, it would provide 
an enhanced facility which would enable sport to be played throughout the year instead of 

10

32



during periods of good weather and daylight only.  

In addition to the above, Sport England (who are a statutory consultee for all developments on 
designated open space/playing fields) have raised no objections to the proposal as it accords 
with their exceptions policy in relation to development on playing fields.  They have deemed 
that the proposed development, which is for an outdoor sports facility, is of sufficient benefit to 
sport to outweigh the detriment caused by the loss of the playing field.  

On the basis of the above, it is considered that the proposal would give rise to a considerable 
benefit to the wider community through the provision of an enhanced playing facility.  
Furthermore, the pitch would enable usage throughout the year whereas at present the grass 
playing fields can only be used during periods of good weather and daylight.  Accordingly, the 
proposal is in accordance with paragraphs 70 and 74 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2012) and Policy CS18 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011).  

b) Design and impact upon the character and appearance of the surrounding area
The proposal would introduce new structures onto the site which will dramatically alter its 
overall appearance.  Of particular impact will be the 15 metre high floodlighting columns and 
fencing which would extend to a maximum height of 4.5 metres (along the eastern and 
western boundaries of the pitch).  It is accepted that the height of the columns would result in 
features which are prominent within the site itself, given that at present it is a large flat 
expanse.  However, the lighting columns are proposed to be of relatively slim profile and the 
luminaires would also be of limited size.  When the lights are in use in the evenings, they will 
appear more prominent structures by virtue of the sky glow that results (this is set out in more 
detail below), particularly given that the site at present is intrinsically dark.  However, subject to 
appropriate restrictions on the times that these lights can operate, it is not considered that the 
impact would be significantly harmful.  Accordingly, it is considered that they would not appear 
unduly prominent or obtrusive features within the locality.  

With regards to the fencing, it is acknowledged that 4.5 metres in height is far in exceedance 
of the existing residential fencing structure which surround the site.  However this fencing 
would be of weldmesh design, which permits light and views in/out and reduces the impact of 
the fencing.  Furthermore, the overall extent of such fencing is similar to several other sites 
within the Peterborough district and is not an unusual feature for playing field sites.  

Turning next to the renovated and extended pavilion building, it is proposed for this to be 
altered from its present flat roof form, to a standard dual pitched design.  The resultant 
extended building would still be of limited size given the overall site area and of limited height, 
extending to a maximum of 4.6 metres to the ridge.  Subject to the use of appropriate 
materials, it is not considered that this feature would appear unduly dominant or obtrusive 
within the context of the site.  

The proposal also includes the creation of significant earth bunds as part of the noise 
mitigation measures (detailed in Section c below).  These bunds would vary in height from 2 
metres along the eastern boundary, to 2.2 metres along the southern boundary and 2.8 metres 
along the western boundary.  Given that these would extend almost the entire lengths of these 
boundaries, they represent significant earthworks within the locality.  However, their heights 
are not considered to be excessive and would not appear incongruous within the site or its 
surroundings.  

Finally, with regards to the proposed car park, it is considered that this has been sensitively 
designed so that a natural grass buffer is retained along the outer boundaries of the site.  The 
hardstanding areas have been kept to a minimum and would represent only a small amount of 
the total site area.  Accordingly, they would not appear out of keeping with the character of the 
site or its locality.  

On the basis of the above, it is considered that the proposal would not result in any 

11

33



unacceptable impact upon the character, appearance or visual amenity of the surrounding 
area and as such, the proposal is in accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core 
Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP2 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).  

c) Neighbour amenity

Noise impact
At present, sport is played on the grass pitch during summer months until the light fails and in 
the winter during daylight hours and when the weather conditions permit.  Furthermore, there 
is no formalised or restricted position associated with the existing pitch and as such, 
games/activities can take place in close proximity to the site boundaries with residential 
properties.  It must therefore be noted that a certain level of impact already results to 
neighbouring residents through noise and general disturbance.  

However, the application proposal would allow sport to be played throughout the year and 
would introduce certain features (such as fencing) that would generate additional noise 
impacts.  Furthermore, the Applicant has requested that the usage of the site be permitted up 
to 22:00 hours throughout the week.  It is therefore accepted that the proposal would represent 
an intensification in the usage of the site and that the noise and disturbance impacts felt by 
surrounding residents would be extended.  

The application has been accompanied by a Noise Assessment however, the City Council's 
Pollution Control Officer has advised that there is no specific guidance on assessing noise 
from sporting facilities and that attempting to use objective values for such a situation is not 
entirely satisfactory (as there is no robust evidence base for judgements to be made).  Such 
noise assessment therefore can only reasonably consider noise which is generated 
continuously, and cannot factor incidental noise which is of particular relevance to sports 
pitches i.e. shouting, whistles blowing and balls hitting fencing.  

The nearest residential properties to the proposed pitch are No.73 Storrington Way (37.2 
metres), No.33 Brookside (48.7 metres) and Nos.433-443 Fulbridge Road (81.8 metres).  It is 
acknowledged that this represents a close relationship, however the Pollution Control Officer 
has given examples of similar pitches in Glinton and Northborough whereby the relationship is 
far closer - 30 metres and 20 metres respectively.  The Officer has also advised that, during 
their professional lifetime, no noise nuisance complaints have ever been received in relation to 
football matches.  

Notwithstanding this, the application scheme includes a number of mitigation measures.  It is 
proposed for the following acoustic fencing to be erected:
 2 metres high along the eastern boundary of the site to Nos.429-437 Fulbridge Road
 3 metres high along the southern boundary of the site, set in 3 metres from the shared 

boundary with Nos.30 and 33 Brookside; and
 3 metres high along the northern boundary of the site, set in 6 metres from the shared 

boundary with No.1 Walnut Grove.
In addition, the proposal also includes the creation of earth bunds along the southern, eastern 
and western boundaries of the site.  

These measures are noted and the Pollution Control Officer has advised that they will be 
effective in reducing noise impacts to surrounding residential properties.  However, it is not 
considered that the use of the pitch to 22:00 hours, as proposed, is acceptable.  At other sites 
within the City where such development proposals have been accepted, a condition has been 
imposed which restricts the usage of the pitch to 21:30 hours, with the associated floodlights 
turned off at 22:00 hours (to ensure sufficient light to enable users to safely exit the premises).  
The proposed use of the site from 08:00 is considered acceptable.  These times correlate with 
daylight hours during summer months and are considered to be those which would not 
reasonably harm the amenities of neighbouring occupants.  Such hours would be applicable 
only during weekdays (Monday to Friday). 

12

34



At weekends and on Public/Bank Holidays, it is considered that further reduced hours of use 
should be applied as these are the times at which residents would reasonably be wishing to 
enjoy their properties the most.  As such, it is proposed that on these days, the usage be 
restricted to only 08:00 hours to 19:30 hours, with the lights being turned off at 20:00 hours.  

Whilst it is accepted that there will be some neighbouring properties which consider this timing 
to be unacceptable, owing to young children going to bed earlier, shift work etc., the grass 
playing field can already be used to this time during the summer and therefore the impact 
already occurs.  Accordingly, it is considered reasonable.  

Light spillage and intrusion
It is proposed that the lighting columns, at a height of 15 metres, will each have 2 luminaires 
set to the horizontal in order to prevent outward light spillage to the surrounding area and sky 
glow.  Whilst it is acknowledged that the lights will be powerful (200 Lux at their maximum), the 
Applicant has provided a detailed Lighting Assessment and associated light spillage diagram 
(Appendix 1) with indicative lighting levels spilling out of the site.  There are two different light 
spillage diagrams as the Applicant is proposing two different lighting levels in order to address 
the impact upon bat populations (detailed further in Section e below).  These diagrams both 
clearly show that some spillage beyond the pitch will occur as a result of the proposal however 
this is to be expected.  

However, taking into account the ‘worst-case scenario’ of 200 Lux, the corresponding spillage 
diagram shows that the level of lighting that will reach the rear gardens of neighbouring 
residential properties will be limited to only 5 Lux (equivalent to the levels of street lights) and 
the levels to primary habitable windows will be far lower at 2 Lux or less.  The properties 
subject to this impact are those along Storrington Way and Brookside, with properties on 
Fulbridge Road subject to lower levels.  

The lighting levels indicated are in line with the Institute of British Lighting Engineers Guidance 
(ILE) for light intrusion into residential properties.  The area is considered to fall within category 
E2 (dark urban areas) as at present, the area is unlit but has some sky glow by virtue of the 
street lighting to the residential area surrounding.  The ILE guidelines clearly state that in this 
type of area light trespass into windows should be limited to 5 Lux pre-curfew (23.00) and 
post-curfew to 1 Lux.  Therefore, it is anticipated that the impact from the floodlights will be 
minimal.  

As detailed above, the Applicant is proposing for the pitch to be in operation up to 22:00 hours. 
Whilst it is considered that the lighting will not have a significant impact upon residential 
amenity, ceasing play at 22:00 hours would result in the lighting still remaining on until the site 
is cleared.  Therefore, it is considered that the hours of use be suitably conditioned so that 
play ends at 21:30 and the lights be turned off no later than 22:00 hours (on weekdays).  All 
times are before the standard curfew of 23:00 hours as set out in the ILE Guidance.  

Furthermore, to ensure future compliance with these restrictions and the ILE guidance, it is 
proposed to impose a further condition which requires the Applicant to demonstrate 
compliance in the event of any reasonable noise complaint.  This would ensure that neighbour 
amenity is protected into the future, and prevents any modifications to the luminaires (e.g. 
altered angle) from taking place.  

Subject to the above, the City Council’s Pollution Control Officer raises no objections and it is 
considered that the proposed lighting would not result in any unacceptable impact to the 
amenities of neighbouring occupants.  

Overlooking/loss of privacy 
At present, the ground within the application site is relatively flat and therefore, standard 
boundary treatments are sufficient to prevent any potential overlooking into neighbouring 

13

35



gardens and primary habitable rooms.  However, the proposal would introduce new earth 
bunds along the boundaries of the sites to levels of between 2 metres and 2.8 metres.  
Spectators and users of the pitches could stand upon these bunds and would be able to view 
directly into neighbouring properties resulting in an unacceptable loss of privacy for occupants.  
Whilst the proposed acoustic fencing would provide some protection from this to certain 
properties, it would not wholly resolve the issue and therefore it is considered both necessary 
and appropriate to seek a scheme of significant landscaping to these bunds to act as a natural 
barrier.  Providing that the planting is of a sufficient depth and contains species which prevent 
access, this would prevent persons from standing in a close enough proximity to permit views 
and therefore would protect the amenities of neighbouring occupants.  

Overbearing/overshadowing impact
As set out above, some of the proposed acoustic fencing would extend to a height of 3 metres 
which is far in excess of ‘permitted development’ level so 2 metres.  However, where such 
high fencing is proposed, it would be set away from the residential boundaries by at least 3 
metres and it is considered that this is sufficient to prevent any unacceptable levels of 
overbearing or overshadowing impact.  

Conclusion
Taking all of the above into account, it is accepted that some level of harm will result to 
neighbouring occupants by virtue of extended periods of noise and general disturbance 
throughout the year.  However, it is considered that the level of impact would not be to an 
unacceptable level and that any harm which results, is outweighed by the significant benefit 
arising from providing an enhanced sports facility which will serve the needs of the north of 
Peterborough, where there is presently a considerable under provision of playing fields.  

d) Parking, access and highway implications

Traffic generation and impact upon highway junctions
It is noted that several objections from local residents, primarily those living within Brookside, 
have raised concerns with regards to increased traffic using the highway linking Fulbridge 
Road and Brookside.  Their concerns specifically relate to conflict with residents accessing 
their properties, queuing at peak times, conflict with pedestrian users and safety concerns 
when exiting onto Fulbridge Road.  Whilst these concerns are noted, the consideration of the 
planning application must look to the impacts arising above and beyond the present situation.  

The Local Highway Authority (LHA) has not raised any objections to the proposal.  At present, 
the site has a lawful D2 (assembly and leisure) use and games can be played without 
restriction in terms of hours of use or numbers.  It is acknowledged that at present, the site is 
not heavily used because the facilities are insufficient to support high usage.  However, as 
described above, the site presently has no restrictions upon its usage other than weather and 
daylight.  The existing pavilion building is currently not in use owing to its dilapidated state 
however no planning permission would be required to bring it back into use and therefore the 
baseline for the present assessment must include the maximum capacity of the existing site 
with all facilities available.  

The proposal would enable the present use to be extended throughout the year and therefore 
represents an intensification only with regards to extended use.  It does not represent an 
intensification of use in terms of more traffic generation, as the maximum capacity of the site 
shall not be increased from the present situation.  Only one pitch would be provided within the 
site and the pavilion is proposed for purposes incidental to the use of the pitch.  Whilst the 
pavilion does provide office space, it is proposed for this to be used by the Peterborough 
District Football League and/or Voyager Academy and therefore shall not represent a separate 
planning unit.  

In light of this, the LHA has advised that only a formalisation of the existing access is required 
by way of ‘give way’ markings and the provision of a vehicle-to-vehicle visibility splays.  The 

14

36



land which would provide this splay is also within the ownership of the City Council and 
therefore can be secured by way of a condition.  The proposal does not generate any further 
demand for off-site highway works and to require these would not meet the relevant tests that 
conditions must pass to be imposed (i.e. necessary to make the development acceptable).  

With regards to impact upon Brookside and the junction with Fulbridge Road, it is accepted 
that the extended impact resulting from the maximum usage of the site may result in some 
conflict with residents.  However, the requested ‘give way’ markings would ensure that 
residents have priority in terms of traffic flows and therefore any delays will be experienced 
into the site.  

Given this baseline situation and the fact that the proposal will not increase the overall 
capacity of the site, the proposal would not pose an unacceptable risk to highway safety in 
accordance with Policy CS14 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP12 
of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).    

Parking and turning provision
Again, several objections from local residents have raised concern with regards to the 
proposed parking provision within the site being insufficient, and resulting in overflow parking 
along Brookside. 

At present, there is no formalised parking provision within the site and cars must park on the 
grassed area adjacent to the gated access.  This inevitably results in ad-hoc parking which 
does not maximise the capacity of the site and has resulted in vehicles parking along 
Brookside.  The proposal would provide formalised parking for 32 cars (3 of which are disabled 
spaces) and 2 mini-buses.  This parking provision accords with the maximum parking 
standards set out in Policy PP13 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).  
Accordingly, the proposal provides adequate on-site parking provision and to resist the 
application on the basis of insufficient car parking would be at odds with adopted policy.  

With regards to turning space, the proposal provides adequate turning facilities for mini-buses 
and refuse collection/emergency service vehicles.  

e) Ecology
The application has been accompanied by a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and subsequent 
Bat Survey Report, both of which were undertaken in June 2015.  The surveys indicate that 
the site boundaries, particularly the south-western and south-eastern corners are presently 
used by foraging and commuting bats.  Lighting can have a considerable impact on these 
species, particularly as the proposal would introduce lighting into the evenings at times when 
bats are most active.  As such, careful consideration must be made to ensure that bat 
populations are not harmed by the proposal.  

The originally submitted scheme would have resulted in lighting levels which were far too high 
along the site boundaries (up to 50 Lux) and this would have had an unacceptable level of 
harm to their ability to forage and commute.  Accordingly, the position of the pitch has been 
slightly relocated further south, and the lighting scheme amended.  The revised lighting 
scheme proposes a reduced lighting level of 120 Lux during the active bat period of April to 
September.  This would now ensure that dark corridors with only a 2 Lux overspill would be 
retained.   The City Council’s Wildlife Officer has advised that this is within acceptable 
tolerances and therefore raises no objections.  

To further mitigate against any undue impact to bat populations, the Bat Survey also identifies 
further measures such as appropriate ‘bat-friendly’ planting and the provision of bat roosting 
boxes within the site.  These measures can be secured by condition.  

In addition to the above, the site boundaries contain areas of scrub/hedgerow which are likely 
to support wild nesting birds.  As such, an informative is required drawing the Applicant’s 

15

37



attention to legislation which does not permit the disturbance of such nesting birds between 
March to August and therefore any clearance of these areas to install the proposed acoustic 
fencing will need to ensure that there are no birds present before works begin.  

Finally, the site contains suitable habitat to support hedgehog populations.  Therefore, the 
Wildlife Officer has requested a condition which requires all trenches be covered overnight 
and/or a means of escape be provided, to ensure that no hedgehogs or other mammals 
become trapped. 

On the basis of the above, it is considered that the proposal would not result in any 
unacceptable impact to protected species and therefore the proposal is in accordance with 
paragraph 118 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2012), Policy CS21 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP16 of the Peterborough Planning 
Policies DPD (2012). 

f) Surface water drainage
Whilst the application site is located within Flood Zone 1 (at least risk of flooding), there have 
been historic incidents of surface water flooding to the gardens of residential properties along 
the southern boundary – Brookside.  This flooding was found to have been caused by excess 
water flowing over the application site following saturation of the ground.  Accordingly, to 
alleviate this issue, a French drain was installed along the southern and western boundaries of 
the site.  

The application proposal in itself will not generate any additional surface water run-off, 
however the proposed noise mitigation bunds would be constructed over this French drain and 
would therefore render them ineffective.  To address this, the scheme has been revised to 
reposition this drain and ensure that it remains as an interceptor of water run-off from the site.  
No formal details of the design of this drain, or predicted run-off rates have been provided and 
as such, the City Council’s Drainage Engineer has requested that a condition be imposed to 
include technical specifications of the drains and management of overland flows from the site.  
This is considered both reasonable and necessary, to ensure no flooding issues arise 
elsewhere.  

On the basis of the above, the proposal would not result in any increased flood risk within or 
outside the site and therefore the proposal is in accordance with paragraph 100 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework (2012) and Policy CS22 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD 
(2011).  

g) Archaeology
The application site is located within an area of known archaeological potential.  To the north, 
a field-walking survey carried out within the allotments site produced pottery dating to the 
Roman, Anglo-Saxon, medieval and post-medieval periods. Amongst the Roman materials 
found were fragments of a box flue tile which would have originally associated with the 
hypocaust of a bathhouse.  Accordingly, the application site itself may contain evidence for 
Roman settlement and associated activities.  

In light of this, the Applicant has undertaken detailed archaeological evaluation by way of a 
geophysical survey and targeted trial trenching.  The method for this evaluation was agreed 
pre-submission with the City Council’s Archaeologist.  The application has been accompanied 
by the results of this evaluation which found no significant archaeology, only post-
medieval/modern furrows, ditches and made ground.  Accordingly, the proposal would not 
pose any unacceptable risk to unknown buried heritage assets and no further evaluation is 
required.  

On this basis, the proposal is in accordance with paragraph 128 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework (2012), Policy CS17 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and 
Policy PP17 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).  

16

38



h) Trees and landscape implications 
The City Council’s Landscape Officer has advised that whilst the proposal would not directly 
impact upon the trees and hedgerows which surround the site, the earthworks associated with 
creating the bunds could indirectly result in compaction of the soil.  However, given the limited 
space between the bunds and site boundary, it is anticipated that the heavy machinery will 
construct the bunds from the inside of the site and therefore, it is not considered that 
significant harm will result.  On this basis, the proposal would not harm trees and other key 
landscape features and is therefore in accordance with Policy PP16 of the Peterborough 
Planning Policies DPD (2012).  

i) Other matters
In response to the neighbour objections received but not specifically dealt with above:

Crime risk – It is proposed for the site to be fully secured outside of the hours of use.  This will 
not alter from the present situation.  

Inadequate public consultation – 40 initial neighbour notification letters were issued to any 
property with an immediately adjoining boundary.  This fulfilled the City Council’s statutory duty 
with respect of public consultation on the planning application.  

Water main – The presence of the water main and the ability to build above it is a matter for 
Building Regulations and is not a material planning consideration. 

Alternative locations for the pitch – The City Council must determine the proposal 
submitted on its own merits and the availability (or otherwise) of alternative locations is not a 
material planning consideration. 

Property values – This is not a material planning consideration.  

Role of Sport England – Whilst Sport England will provide grant funding for the application 
proposal, they are a Statutory Consultee on planning applications involving playing fields and 
their views must be taken into account.  Sport England has its own policy to apply in 
considering such planning applications and this is separate from any grant funding 
applications.  

Role of Peterborough City Council – The Local Planning Authority has a legal duty to 
determine all planning applications submitted.  As the application site is within the City 
Council’s ownership, the constitution dictates that a certain procedure must be followed and 
accordingly, the application is being determined by Members and not through delegated 
powers.  The application has been considered on its own merits and in accordance with the 
adopted Local Plan.  

6 Conclusions

Subject to the imposition of the attached conditions, the proposal is acceptable having been 
assessed in the light of all material considerations, including weighing against relevant policies of 
the development plan and specifically:
 the proposal would give rise to a considerable benefit to the wider community through the 

provision of an enhanced playing facility and the opportunity for usage throughout the year, in 
accordance with paragraphs 70 and 74 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2012) and 
Policy CS18 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011);

 the all-weather pitch and associated facilities would not result in an unacceptable impact upon 
the character, appearance or visual amenity of the surrounding area, in accordance with Policy 
CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP2 of the Peterborough 
Planning Policies DPD (2012);

 the proposal floodlighting would not result in any unacceptable light intrusion to neighbouring 

17

39



properties however it is acknowledged that some increased noise and disturbance would 
result to residents.  It is considered that this harm is outweighed by the public benefit arising 
from the improved facilities on the site;

 the proposal provides adequate on-site parking to meet the needs of the development and 
would not result in any harm to the safety of the surrounding public highway network, in 
accordance with Policy CS14 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policies 
PP12 and PP13 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012);

 subject to appropriate mitigation the proposal would not result in any unacceptably harmful 
impact to ecology present within and surrounding the site, in accordance with paragraph 118 
of the National Planning Policy Framework (2012), Policy CS21 of the Peterborough Core 
Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP16 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012); 

 the proposal, subject to further details being provided, would ensure that surface water run-off 
is effectively managed and does not increase flood risk elsewhere, in accordance with 
paragraph 100 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2012) and Policy CS22 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011);

 adequate archaeological evaluation has taken place to demonstrate that the proposal would 
not pose a risk to undiscovered buried heritage assets, in accordance with paragraph 128 of 
the National Planning Policy Framework (2012), Policy CS17 of the Peterborough Core 
Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP17 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012); and

 the proposal would not pose any unacceptable risk to established trees and shrubs 
surrounding the site, in accordance with Policy PP16 of the Peterborough Planning Policies 
DPD (2012).  

7 Recommendation

The Director of Growth and Regeneration recommends that Planning Permission (Regulation 4) is 
GRANTED subject to the following conditions:

C 1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from 
the date of this permission.

Reason: In accordance with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended).

 
C 2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following 

drawings and documents:

- Drawing number SSL1925-01 Rev 00 ‘Topographical Survey’
- Drawing number SSL1925-02 Rev 05 ‘Block Plan of Site’
- Drawing number SSL1925-03 Rev 06 ‘Proposed Site Plan’
- Drawing number SSL1925-05 Rev 03 ‘Isometric View’
- Drawing number SSL1925-06 Rev 01 ‘Proposed Site Plan’
- Drawing number T7914/PH-SK01 ‘Swept Path Analysis’
- Drawing number CC6081 Sheet 1 of 1 ‘15m Flanged AMARU Mid Hinged Column’
- Drawing number CM1308-015-01 ‘Location Plans’
- Drawing number CM1308-015-02 ‘Existing Ground Floor Plan’
- Drawing number CM1308-015-03 ‘Existing Roof Plan’
- Drawing number CM1308-015-04 ‘Existing Elevations 1 of 2’
- Drawing number CM1308-015-05 ‘Existing Elevations 2 of 2’
- Drawing number CM1308-015-06 ‘Proposed Ground Floor Plan’
- Drawing number CM1308-015-07 ‘Proposed Roof Plan’
- Drawing number CM1308-015-08 ‘Proposed Elevations 1 of 2’
- Drawing number CM1308-015-09 ‘Proposed Elevations 2 of 2’
- Drawing number CM1308-015-10 ‘Visualisations’
- Environmental Noise Report (reference 6092/DO/pw dated September 2015)
- Floodlighting Performance Results (Revision 03)

18

40



Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt.
 
C 3 No development other than groundworks and foundations shall take place on the pavilion 

extension until details of all external materials have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The details submitted for approval shall include the 
name of the manufacturer, the product type, colour (using BS4800) and reference number. 
The development shall not be carried out except in accordance with the approved details. 

Reason: For the Local Planning Authority to ensure a satisfactory external appearance, in 
accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy 
PP2 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

 
C 4 The use of the all-weather sports pitch hereby permitted shall not take place outside the 

following hours: 

Monday to Friday - 08:00 to 21:30 hours 
Saturday / Sunday / Public or Bank Holidays - 08:00 to 19:30 hours

All external lighting within the site shall not be used outside the following hours:

Monday to Friday - 08:00 to 22:00 hours 
Saturday / Sunday / Public or Bank Holidays - 08:00 to 20:00 hours

Reason:  In order to protect the amenities of neighbouring occupants and ensure viable use 
of the sports facility, in accordance with Policies CS16 and CS18 of the Peterborough Core 
Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP3 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012). 

 
C 5 Notwithstanding the details hereby approved, the floodlighting to the all-weather pitch shall 

be reduced to an output of 120 Lux from 18:00 hours until the lights are switched off (in 
accordance with the times specified in condition C4) during the bat activity period of 1 April 
to 30 September (inclusive).

Reason:  In order to protect bat populations within/around the site, in accordance with 
paragraph 118 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2012), Policy CS21 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP16 of the Peterborough Planning 
Policies DPD (2012).

 
C 6 The noise mitigation measures contained within Chapter 7 of the submitted Environmental 

Noise Report (reference 6092/DO/pw dated June 2015) shall be implemented in full and 
prior to first use of the all-weather pitch hereby permitted.  The mitigation measures are 
specifically:

- Acoustic barriers to a minimum surface density of 10 kilograms per metre squared sited 
in the areas shown on drawing number SSL1925-03 Rev 06 'Proposed Site Plan'; and 

- Acoustic bunds sited at the locations and to the heights shown on drawing number 
SSL1925-03 Rev 06 'Proposed Site Plan'. 

Thereafter, those measures shall be retained in accordance with the above details in 
perpetuity.   

Reason:  In order to protect the amenities of neighbouring occupants, in accordance with 
Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP3 of the 
Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

 
C 7 Notwithstanding the details hereby permitted, the use of the lighting columns shall not 

exceed the obtrusive light limitations for sky glow, light into windows, source intensity and 

19

41



building luminance specified in environmental zone E2 in the Institution of Lighting 
Engineers document 'Guidance Notes for the Reduction of Obtrusive Light GN01:2011'.  

In the event of any reasonable complaint to the Local Planning Authority in respect of light 
intrusion to neighbouring properties, the Applicant (or their successors in title) will be 
required to demonstrate compliance with these limits within 28 days of written notice from 
the Local Planning Authority.  Should any breach be found, a scheme of mitigation to bring 
the lighting into accordance shall be provided and implemented in accordance with a 
timetable agreed.  
                
Reason: In the interests of protecting the amenity of local residents, in accordance with 
Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP3 of the 
Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

 
C 8 Prior to first use of the all-weather sports pitch hereby permitted, a scheme for the hard and 

soft landscaping of the site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  The scheme shall include details of the following:

- Planting plans including species, numbers, size and density along the noise mitigation 
bunds in order to prevent pedestrian use;

- Hard surfacing materials;
- Boundary treatments (including colour finish); and
- Refuse collection points and bins.

The approved hard landscaping scheme shall be carried out prior to first use of the all-
weather sports pitch and pavilion extension.  The approved soft landscaping scheme shall 
be carried out no later than the first planting season following first use of the all-weather 
sports pitch.  

Any trees, shrubs or hedges forming part of the approved landscaping scheme that die, are 
removed or become diseased within five years of the implementation of the landscaping 
scheme shall be replaced during the next available planting season by the developers, or 
their successors in title with an equivalent size, number and species to those being 
replaced.  Any replacement trees, shrubs or hedgerows dying within five years of planting 
shall themselves be replaced with an equivalent size, number and species.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity, to protect the amenities of neighbouring 
residents and to enhance the biodiversity of the site, in accordance with Policies CS16 and 
CS21 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policies PP3 and PP16 of the 
Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

 
C 9 Prior to the commencement of development, a detailed surface water drainage strategy 

shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The strategy 
shall include:

- Confirmation from Anglian Water that connection to the nearby surface water sewer 
can be achieved;

- A final drainage layout with technical specifications of all drainage assets, including 
details relating to changes in the existing drainage and bunding; and

- Calculations supporting the agreed discharge rates (should they change). 

The surface water drainage strategy shall be implemented in accordance with the approved 
details and prior to the commencement of development.  

Reason:  To ensure that no increased flood risk results beyond the boundary of the site, in 
accordance with Policy CS22 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011).  The 

20

42



condition is required pre-commencement as elements of the drainage details shall be 
implemented first, before other development takes place.

 
C10 During the period of construction, any trenches which are to be left overnight shall be 

covered and/or a graduated means of escape shall be provided for mammals. 

Reason:  To ensure no harm results to protected species, in accordance with paragraph 
118 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2012), Policy CS21 of the Peterborough 
Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP16 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD 
(2012).

C11 Prior to first use of the floodlights hereby permitted, details of bat roosting boxes to be 
installed within the site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The boxes shall be installed in accordance with the approved details and prior to 
first use of the floodlights hereby permitted.  

Reason:  To ensure no harm results to protected species, in accordance with paragraph 
118 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2012), Policy CS21 of the Peterborough 
Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP16 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD 
(2012).

 
C12 Prior to the commencement of development, details of temporary facilities for materials 

storage, wheel cleansing and parking/turning/loading/unloading of all vehicles visiting the 
site during the period of construction shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  Those facilities shall be provided in accordance with the 
approved details and throughout the period of construction.  

Reason:  In the interests of highway safety, in accordance with Policy CS14 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP12 of the Peterborough Planning 
Policies DPD (2012). The condition is required pre-commencement to ensure that no harm 
results to highway safety once construction begins.

 
C13 Prior to first use of the all-weather pitch and extended pavilion hereby permitted, the areas 

shown on drawing number SSL1925-03 Revision 06 'Proposed Site Plan' for the parking 
and turning of vehicles shall be laid out (including demarcation) in accordance with the 
approved details.  Thereafter, those areas shall not be used for any purpose other than the 
parking and turning of vehicles in connection with the use of the site in perpetuity.

Reason:  In the interests of highway safety, in accordance with Policy CS14 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policies PP12 and PP13 of the Peterborough 
Planning Policies DPD (2012).

 
C14 Notwithstanding the submitted details and prior to first use of the all-weather pitch and 

extended pavilion hereby permitted, details of the off-site works to the public highway 
comprising 'give-way' markings shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  The works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details 
and prior to first use of either the pitch or extended pavilion, whichever is earlier.  

Reason:  In the interests of highway safety, in accordance with Policy CS14 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP12 of the Peterborough Planning 
Policies DPD (2012).

 
C15 Notwithstanding the submitted details and prior to first use of the all-weather pitch and 

extended pavilion hereby permitted, vehicle-to-vehicle visibility splays measuring 2.4 
metres x 43 metres shall be provided on both sides of the vehicular access to the site.  
Thereafter, those splays shall be kept clear of any obstruction above a height of 600mm 
from ground level in perpetuity.  

21

43



Reason:  In the interests of highway safety, in accordance with Policy CS14 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP12 of the Peterborough Planning 
Policies DPD (2012).

 
C16 Notwithstanding the submitted details and prior to first use of the all-weather pitch and 

extended pavilion hereby permitted, details of covered cycle parking for 20 bicycles (10no. 
Sheffield cycle stands) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The cycle parking shall be provided in accordance with the approved details and 
prior to first use of either the pitch or extended pavilion, whichever is earlier.  Thereafter, 
the cycle parking shall be retained in perpetuity.  

Reason:  In the interests of highway safety, in accordance with Policy CS14 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP12 of the Peterborough Planning 
Policies DPD (2012).

 
C17 The areas shown on drawing number 06 'Proposed Ground Floor Plan' as an office and 

training room shall be solely used for purposes ancillary to the use of the all-weather sports 
pitch and shall not be sold, leased or rented as a separate unit.  

Reason:  The site does not contain sufficient car parking to accommodate an additional 
separate planning unit, in accordance with Policies PP12 and PP13 of the Peterborough 
Planning Policies DPD (2012).

Copies to Councillors: D Fower, P V Thacker MBE, J Davidson

 

22

44



15/01086/R4FUL – Sports Ground, Fulbridge Road 
 

Appendix 1 
 
 
A - 200 Lux Spillage Diagram 

 
 

APPENDIX 1

45



 
B – 120 Lux Spillage Diagram 
 

 

APPENDIX 1

46



47



This page is intentionally left blank

48



Planning and EP Committee 13 October 2015          Item 3

Application Ref: 15/01129/FUL 

Proposal: Erection of HMO providing 6 bedsitting rooms with shared kitchen and 
dining facilities

Site: Cranford Drive Boiler House, Hartwell Court, Westwood, Peterborough
Applicant: Sharman Architecture

Agent:
Referred by: Director of Growth and Regeneration
Reason: Significant local objection from residents and Stewart Jackson MP
Site visit: 05/08/15
Case officer: Mrs A Walker
Telephone No. 01733 454418
E-Mail: astrid.walker@peterborough.gov.uk

Recommendation: GRANT subject to relevant conditions  

1 Description of the site and surroundings and Summary of the proposal

Site Description
The application site comprises an irregular shaped parcel of land, previously occupied by a boiler 
house. This has now been demolished and enclosed by herras style fencing. The ground within the 
fencing is uneven with grassed and planted bunds of earth and sits at a lower level than the 
houses further to the rear of the site. The rear part of the site is grassed and adjoins the wider 
open space that extends to the east. There are five mature trees located within the application site. 
The site is accessed via Hartwell Court. 

The surrounding character is residential in nature. To the south and south west of the site are 
terraces of mainly two but some three storey dwellings. To the north of the site is a large two storey 
Residential Care complex. Open space sits to the east of the site.

Proposal
Permission is sought for the construction of a detached two storey building for use as a House in 
Multiple Occupation (HMO) comprising of six bed sits with shared kitchen and dining facilities. The 
building will be positioned centrally on the site, with seven car parking spaces provided to its north 
side, accessed off the existing highway (Hartwell Court). An enclosed cycle store is proposed to 
the north east side of the building. A communal bin store and collection point are proposed to the 
west side of the building. A fully enclosed shared amenity space is proposed to the rear (south) 
side of the building. It is proposed that four of the five trees on the site are retained and new soft 
landscaping added to the site.

The applicant has advised that the site will be managed by a private landlord. 

Background
It should be noted that planning permission was granted for the construction of two three bed 
roomed semi-detached houses on the site in 2011. This permission has since lapsed but remains a 
material consideration (see principle of development in report below).

1

49



2 Planning History

Reference Proposal Decision Date
11/01014/FUL Demolition of boiler house and construction 

of two x 3 bed semi-detached residential 
dwelling houses

Permitted 06/09/2011

3 Planning Policy

Decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan policies below, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.

National Planning Policy Framework (2012)

Section 7 - Good Design 
Development should add to the overall quality of the area; establish a strong sense of place; 
optimise the site potential; create and sustain an appropriate mix of uses; support local facilities 
and transport networks; respond to local character and history while not discouraging appropriate 
innovation; create safe and accessible environments which are visually attractive as a result of 
good architecture and appropriate landscaping. Planning permission should be refused for 
development of poor design.

Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011)

CS10 - Environment Capital 
Development should make a clear contribution towards the Council’s aspiration to become 
Environment Capital of the UK.

CS16 - Urban Design and the Public Realm 
Design should be of high quality, appropriate to the site and area, improve the public realm, 
address vulnerability to crime, be accessible to all users and not result in any unacceptable impact 
upon the amenities of neighbouring residents.

Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012)

PP01 - Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
Applications which accord with policies in the Local Plan and other Development Plan Documents 
will be approved unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  Where there are no relevant 
policies, the Council will grant permission unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

PP02 - Design Quality 
Permission will only be granted for development which makes a positive contribution to the built 
and natural environment; does not have a detrimental effect on the character of the area; is 
sufficiently robust to withstand/adapt to climate change; and is designed for longevity.

PP03 - Impacts of New Development 
Permission will not be granted for development which would result in an unacceptable loss of 
privacy, public and/or private green space or natural daylight; be overbearing or cause noise or 
other disturbance, odour or other pollution; fail to minimise opportunities for crime and disorder.

PP04 - Amenity Provision in New Residential Development 
Proposals for new residential development should be designed and located to ensure that they 
provide for the needs of the future residents.

PP12 - The Transport Implications of Development 
Permission will only be granted if appropriate provision has been made for safe access by all user 
groups and there would not be any unacceptable impact on the transportation network including 

2

50



highway safety.

PP13 - Parking Standards 
Permission will only be granted if appropriate parking provision for all modes of transport is made 
in accordance with standards.

PP16 - The Landscaping and Biodiversity Implications of Development 
Permission will only be granted for development which makes provision for the retention of trees 
and natural features which contribute significantly to the local landscape or biodiversity.

PP20 - Development on Land affected by Contamination 
Development must take into account the potential environmental impacts arising from the 
development itself and any former use of the site.  If it cannot be established that the site can be 
safely developed with no significant future impacts on users or ground/surface waters, permission 
will be refused.

4 Consultations/Representations

PCC Tree Officer (01.09.15)
No objection to the proposals following revisions to the layout enabling the retention of four out of 
the five trees on the site. Conditions should be imposed on the Decision requiring the agreement of 
Tree Protection Measures and an Arboricultural Method Statement prior to the commencement of 
the development.

PCC Pollution Team 
No objection. It is unclear from the submitted information what the ground conditions beneath the 
old boiler house are like. Recommend the imposition of a condition requiring that in the event that 
unsuspected contamination is found during development, works cease until appropriate 
remediation measures are agreed with the Local Planning Authority.

Environment Agency (20.07.15)
No comment. This application falls outside the Scope of matters on which the Environment Agency 
is a statutory consultee.

Archaeological Officer (21.07.15)
No objection. The proposed development site and surrounding area (250m radius) contain no 
known heritage assets. Therefore there is no need to secure a programme of archaeological work.

Building Control Manager 
Building Regulation Approval Required.

PCC Transport & Engineering Services 
No objection. Recommend conditions on the decision to secure visibility splays, provision and 
retention of car and cycle parking, bin collection point and temporary facilities during construction.

Cambridgeshire Fire & Rescue Service 
No comments received

Waste Management 
No objection. The applicant has indicated that they will use two Taylor type bins to serve the 
development which is appropriate. The location and size of the bin collection point is acceptable.

Police Architectural Liaison Officer 
No objection.

Local Residents/Interested Parties 

3

51



Initial consultations: 85
Total number of responses: 6
Total number of objections: 5 including a petition with 49 signatures
Total number in support: 0
Total number neither objecting to/or in support of: 1

Six letters of representation, including a petition with 49 signatures have been received, objecting 
to the development on the following grounds:

- Concerns over lack of parking in the area and the impact of this development on available car 
parking spaces.
- Concerns that the development is not appropriate in an area where lots of families live.
- Concerns that the development will have an adverse impact on the elderly persons home 
opposite the site in terms of noise, nuisance, type of person living in and attracted to the building.
- The proposal will lead to a cramped form of development and the overdevelopment of the site.
- The access road is inadequate in width and too narrow for two cars to pass.
- Increase in noise arising from the HMO.
- Concerned about increase in cars and road safety.
- The development will result in the loss of trees which should be protected by TPO.

Stewart Jackson MP
Objects to the development on the grounds that the proposed HMO is out of keeping with the area, 
particularly given the position of the site adjacent to the elderly persons home at Hartwell Way, and 
will have an adverse impact on the quality of life and residential amenity of this quiet residential 
area.

5 Assessment of the planning issues

Principle of development
Planning permission for a pair of three bedroom semi-detached properties on the site was granted 
in September 2011. Whilst this development never commenced, and the permission has since 
lapsed (in September 2014) it is considered that the principle of residential development on the site 
has been established and that the planning history forms a material consideration in assessing the 
acceptability of the submitted application. The proposal although for six bedsits is not significantly 
different in size to the previously approved development, with a slightly smaller footprint. It would 
therefore be difficult for the Local Planning Authority to resist the development in principle. 

Design and impact of the development on the character of the area
The application site is located within a residential area. Quinton Garth and Horton Walk (to the 
south and south east of the site) are characterised by terraces of primarily two storey dwellings of 
brick construction, with gable roofs, plain frontages and very little detailing. To the north of the site, 
Hartwell Court is a large two storey Residential Care complex. 

The proposed building is of a similar height and design to the previously approved pair of semi-
detached dwellings. Slightly more interest is offered to the elevations through the change in 
materials and the fenestration proposed. It is considered that the proposal would integrate with the 
existing built character and would not be harmful to the street scene. Appropriate materials, finish 
to doors, windows and rainwater goods can be secured via condition.

It is therefore considered that the development is in accordance with Policy CS16 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy and Policy PP02 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD it would 
not result in an unacceptable impact on the character of the area.

Residential amenity
The proposed development will be positioned centrally within the site, with parking to the front and 
communal bin store and cycle store to each side. A fully enclosed shared amenity area will be 
provided to the rear of the building. It is considered that the development along with the associated 

4

52



facilities can be accommodated within the site with sufficient space so as the development will not 
appear unduly cramped or overdeveloped.

The internal layout shows a communal kitchen and ‘plant room’ situated beneath a 
bedroom/lounge. This is not considered an ideal arrangement. The agent has advised that the 
plant room is required for the water storage tanks and heating manifolds and as such he does not 
consider that it would emit harmful noise levels or that it would be detrimental to the future 
occupiers’ residential amenity. Notwithstanding this it is considered that noise insulation will be 
covered as part of the building regulations application. The bedsits are proposed for rental on the 
private rental market and future occupiers will be aware of the layout and chose whether the 
accommodation is suitable for their requirements.

For the type of accommodation that the development is, i.e. a HMO, it is considered that the 
proposal would afford the future occupiers a satisfactory level of residential amenity, in accordance 
with Policy PP04 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD.

Impact of the development on neighbour amenity
The proposed building is set back within the site and there is approximately 22 metres between the 
front of the HMO and the front of the residential care home to the north of the site. To the south of 
the site there is approximately 8 metres (at the closest point) between the rear of the proposed 
HMO and the side elevation of number 53 Clipston Walk. Given that there are no windows in the 
side elevation of this property this relationship is considered satisfactory. The properties further to 
the south east and west respectively are in excess of 20 metres away. It is not therefore 
considered that the development would cause any undue loss of outlook/privacy/overbearing or 
overshadowing.

It is noted that residents have expressed concerns about the type of tenant that will be living in the 
HMO and whether the development is appropriate in the area given the large number of families 
and also elderly residents living in the residential care complex opposite the site. This is not a 
planning issue and cannot be controlled through the planning process. The applicant has advised 
that the HMO will be run by a private landlord and it will be the landlord’s responsibility to ensure 
that the site is properly managed so as not to cause any detrimental impact to nearby neighbours. 
Should undue noise or disturbance arise from tenants in the future then this would be a matter for 
investigation by the Council’s pollution control team.

It is also recognised that changes to The Town and Country (General Permitted Development 
Order) 2015 have made it easier for dwelling houses (C3) to be changed from a single occupancy 
family home to a House in Multiple Occupation (C4) with up to 6 bedsits without requiring planning 
permission. Therefore had the earlier dwellings been constructed they could have been changed to 
a 6-bed HMO without requiring planning permission. 

It is not therefore considered that the development would give rise to an unacceptable impact on 
neighbour amenity. The development is therefore in accordance with Policy CS16 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy and Policy PP03 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD.

Highways Implications
The Local Highways Authority has not objected to the development. 

It is noted that some of the objections received from neighbours relates to concerns about the lack 
of car parking in the area and the impact that this development will have on available spaces. For 
this type of development Policy PP13 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD requires a 
minimum of six car parking spaces - one for each bedroom. The development provides seven car 
parking spaces so exceeds the requirement and is therefore considered acceptable. The cycle 
parking is also in accordance with the policy requirement, with six covered and secure spaces 
indicated on the submitted plan.

It is recommended that conditions are imposed on the Decision requiring the provision of vehicle to 

5

53



pedestrian visibility splays to the car parking bays, provision and retention of secure cycle parking, 
bin collection point and the provision of temporary facilities on site during the construction phase.

It is therefore considered that the development is in accordance with Policies PP12 and PP13 of 
the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD.

Landscaping Implications
There are five trees located on the application site, none of which are covered by a Tree 
Preservation Oder (TPO). However, the Tree Officer considers that given their quality and 
contribution to the character of the area three are worthy of TPO- the two field maple adjacent to 
the proposed car parking spaces and the Sycamore to the west side of the site. 

The application as submitted indicated that all the trees were to be retained, however, it was not 
supported by any Arboricultural information showing how this would be possible. Given the ground 
conditions around the two field maple and the need to level this area to create the proposed car 
parking spaces the Tree Officer was unconvinced that it would be possible to retain these trees. 
Similarly from the location of the proposed building the Tree Officer considered that the proposed 
Sycamore would require such a significant amount of pruning that it would be better to remove the 
tree, which he would not support.

The previous planning approval on the site (11/01014/FUL) had a similar layout, with a private 
driveway/parking area shown adjacent to the two field maple. This application was accompanied 
with an Arboricultural Impact Assessment, and the removal of these two trees was accepted. The 
sycamore to the west was however retained, as the footprint of the approved dwellings was far 
enough away to allow for its retention. On this basis the applicant was asked to amend the layout 
so that the tree removals were no worse than what the Local Planning Authority agreed on the 
previous approval. 

The applicant has now amended the layout and moved the footprint of the building away from the 
sycamore and indicated that this tree and the field maple closest to the road can be retained. The 
Tree Officer considers that the retention of these trees is feasible subject to securing an 
Arboricultural Method Statement and Tree Protection measures by condition. 

It is therefore considered that given the planning history for the site this application will not result in 
an unacceptable impact on the existing landscape features of the site. The earlier approval 
resulted in the loss of both the field maple whereas this proposal allows for the retention of one. On 
balance, therefore, it is considered that the proposal is in accordance with Policy PP16 of the 
Peterborough Planning Policies DPD.

Contamination 
Pollution Control has not objected to the development. Given that a boiler house previously 
occupied the site it is recommended that an unsuspected contamination condition is imposed on 
the decision. This will ensure that in the event unsuspected contamination is discovered once 
development commences, works will cease until a remediation strategy is agreed with the Local 
Planning Authority. 

6 Conclusions

- The design of the development is satisfactory and will not result in a detrimental impact on the 
character of the area.
- The development has a satisfactory relationship to neighbouring dwellings and will not result in an 
unacceptable impact on neighbour amenity.
- Car and cycle parking provision is in accordance with the policy requirement for a HMO.
- The majority of the existing Trees on site will be retained, with appropriate protection and 
arboricultural method statement secured by condition. 

The development is therefore in accordance with Policies CS14 and CS16 of the Peterborough 

6

54



Core Strategy and Policies PP02, PP03, PP04, PP12, PP13 and PP16 of the Peterborough 
Planning Policies DPD. 

7 Recommendation

The Director of Growth and Regeneration recommends that Planning Permission is GRANTED 
subject to the following conditions and reasons:

C 1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from 
the date of this permission.

Reason: In accordance with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended).

C 2 No above ground development shall take place until the following details have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority:

- External materials
- Windows
- External doors
- Rainwater goods

The details submitted for approval shall include the name of the manufacturer, the product 
type, colour (using BS4800) and reference number. The development shall not be carried 
out except in accordance with the approved details. 

Reason: For the Local Planning Authority to ensure a satisfactory external appearance, in 
accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy 
PP2 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

C 3 Notwithstanding the submitted information, no development shall take place above slab 
level until the following hard landscaping details have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority

- All hard surfacing materials 
- All boundary treatments
- Bin storage area, enclosure details and collection point.

The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved details 
prior to the first occupation of the HMOs.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity in accordance with policy CS16 of the adopted 
Core Strategy and Policy PP02 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD.

C 4 No development shall take place above slab level until a scheme for the soft landscaping of 
the site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
The scheme shall include details of the following:-

- Proposed finished ground and building slab levels
            - Planting plans including retained trees, species, numbers, size and density of planting

- An implementation programme (phased developments only)

The approved soft landscaping scheme shall be carried out within the first available 
planting season following completion of the development or first occupation (whichever is 
the sooner) or alternatively in accordance with a timetable for landscape implementation 
which has been approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority as part of the submitted 
landscape scheme.

7

55



Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and then enhancement of biodiversity in 
accordance with policy CS21 of the adopted Core Strategy and policy PP16 of the adopted 
Planning Policies DPD.

C 5 Any trees, shrubs or hedges forming part of the approved landscaping scheme (except 
those contained in enclosed rear gardens to individual dwellings) that die, are removed or 
become diseased within five years of the implementation of the landscaping scheme shall 
be replaced during the next available planting season by the developers, or their 
successors in title with an equivalent size, number and species to those being replaced.  
Any replacement trees, shrubs or hedgerows dying within five years of planting shall 
themselves be replaced with an equivalent size, number and species.

Reason: In the interests of the visual appearance of the development and the enhancement 
of biodiversity in accordance with Policy CS21 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD 
(2011) and Policy PP16 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

C 6 No work shall take place on the application site (including soil stripping, preconstruction 
delivery of equipment or materials, the creation of site accesses, positioning of site huts) 
until a site specific Method Statement and Finalised Tree Protection Plan to BS5837:2012 
Trees in relation to design demolition and construction - Recommendations methodology 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority that 
identifies (not exclusively) the following:

- Location and specification of protective tree measures in addition to appropriate ground 
protection within the Root Protection Areas of all retained trees within the application site;
- Details of all Root Protection Area infringement during the construction and landscaping 
phases with details on how the impact will be minimised. This includes the location and 
specification of 'no dig' constructions;  
- Details of all facilitation pruning;
- Location for access, material storage, site office, mixing of cement, welfare facilities etc;
- Specification of landscaping prescriptions (including fencing/walls and changes in soil 
level) within the Root Protection Area of retained trees;

The scheme shall be implemented strictly in accordance with the agreed details/plans. The 
tree protection shall be erected according to the specification and locations shown on the 
agreed Tree Protection Plan. Signs will be placed on the tree protection emphasising that it 
is not to be moved, nor the area entered into until the end of development without written 
permission from the Local Planning Authority's Tree Officer. 

Reason: In order to protect and safeguard the amenities of the area, in accordance with 
Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policies PP2 and PP16 of 
the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012). This is a pre-commencement condition 
because it is necessary to ensure that the retained trees can be adequately protected 
throughout the development phase and that works will be carried out in a way that will not 
be harmful to them. 

C 7 No work shall take place on the application site until a site meeting between the site 
agent/builder, the developers chosen arboriculturist and the Local Planning Authority's Tree 
Officer has been undertaken. Thereafter, the developers chosen arboriculturist will conduct 
site supervision as agreed during the site visit for the duration of the project to ensure that 
all protection measures and activities (including tree fencing, ground protection and 
landscaping) are being implemented and maintained as per the agreed Tree Protection 
Plan/Arboricultural Method Statement (pursuant to condition C6 above). A log of site 
supervision shall be kept in the site office for inspection by the Local Planning Authority.

8

56



Reason: In order to protect and safeguard the amenities of the area, in accordance with 
Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policies PP2 and PP16 of 
the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012). This is a pre-commencement condition 
because it is necessary to ensure that the retained trees can be adequately protected 
throughout the development phase and that works will be carried out in a way that will not 
be harmful to them. 

C 8 No construction/demolition/excavation works or removal of hedgerows/site clearance works 
shall be carried out on site between the 1 March and 31 August inclusive in any year, 
unless otherwise approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To protect features of nature conservation importance, in accordance with Policy 
CS21 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policies PP16 and PP19 of the 
Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

C 9 Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted the vehicle to pedestrian 
visibility splays shown on drawing no. WW/05 Rev E shall be implemented on site in 
accordance with the approved details and shall subsequently be retained free of any 
obstruction over a height of 600mm in perpetuity.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety, in accordance with Policy PP12 of the 
Peterborough Planning Policies DPD.

C10 Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved space shall be laid out on 
site for 7 cars to park in accordance with the approved plan reference: Proposed Site Plan  
WW/05 REV E. That area shall not thereafter be used for any purpose other than the 
parking of vehicles in connection with the use of the building as a HMO.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety, in accordance with Policies PP12 and PP13 of 
the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD.

C11 Notwithstanding the submitted information and prior to the first occupation of the building 
hereby permitted details of a secure, covered cycle shelter with a minimum of six cycle 
parking spaces shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The cycle parking shall thereafter be implemented on site in accordance with the 
approved details and subsequently retained as such.

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity and to encourage sustainable modes of 
transport in accordance with Policy CS10, CS14 and CS16 of the Peterborough Core 
Strategy and Policies PP04,  PP12 and PP13 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD.

C12 Prior to the commencement of development details of the temporary facilities that shall be 
provided clear of the nearby public highway for materials storage and for the 
parking/turning/loading/unloading of all vehicles visiting the site during the period of 
construction shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety, in accordance with Policies PP12 and PP13 of 
the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD. This is a pre-commencement condition because 
it is necessary to establish that suitable temporary facilities can be provided on site and the 
development will not result in a detrimental impact on the adjacent road network and 
highway safety.

C13 No development other than ground works shall take place until details of existing and 
proposed levels including details of finished floor levels, road levels and levels for parking 
areas have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

9

57



Reason: In the interests of visual amenity in accordance policy CS16 of the adopted Core 
Strategy.

C14 Prior to the first occupation of the HMO details of the proposed lighting scheme for the site  
(including the design, location, levels of luminance and a LUX plan) shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The lighting scheme shall 
thereafter be implemented on site in accordance with the approved details before the first 
occupation of the HMO.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and public amenity in accordance with Policies 
CS14 and CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy and Policies PP03 and PP12 of the 
Peterborough Planning Policies DPD.

C15 If, during development, contamination not previously considered is identified, then the Local 
Planning Authority shall be notified immediately and no further work shall be carried out 
until a method statement detailing a scheme for dealing with the suspect contamination has 
been submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  The 
development shall thereafter not be carried out except in complete accordance with the 
approved scheme.

Reason: To ensure all contamination within the site is dealt with in accordance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework, in particular paragraphs 120 and 121 and Policy 
PP20 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

Copies to Councillors: E Murphy, G Nawaz

 

10

58



59



This page is intentionally left blank

60



Planning and EP Committee 13 October 2015                  Item 4

Application Ref: 15/01198/FUL 

Proposal: Change of use from C3 to C2

Site: 500 Oundle Road, Orton Longueville, Peterborough, PE2 7DF
Applicant: Mr Sajeed Malik

Referred by: Cllr North
Reason: Noise, land use compatibility and highways
Site visit: 03.09.2015

Case officer: Mr M A Thomson
Telephone No. 01733 453478
E-Mail: matt.thomson@peterborough.gov.uk

Recommendation: GRANT subject to relevant conditions  

1 Description of the site and surroundings and Summary of the proposal

Site Description
The application site is a detached two storey residential dwelling with a detached triple garage. The 
property is set back from Oundle Road screened by a mature boundary hedge. The property has a 
large rear garden which is surrounded by a variety of boundary treatments. The property including 
the triple garage has off street parking for at least 10 vehicles. 

History
In 2011 planning permission was granted for a change of use from C3(a) (dwellinghouse) to C2 
(residential institution) under App Ref: 11/01372/FUL for up to 6 autistic clients aged 18-50 years 
with 4 members of staff (one staff member on site overnight) however this permission was not 
implemented and has since lapsed.

Proposal
The proposal is a change of use from a C3(a) (dwellinghouse) to C2 (residential institution) 
providing care for 5 males who have experienced neglect, abuse, behavioural, emotional and 
social difficulties aged 10-16 who would be supported by three full time members of staff. The 
business would be operated by Semi Independent House who would provide support and a 
structured homely environment. External changes proposed are the creation of an access ramp to 
the front door and parking area to front.  

Permitted Development
Under the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended) it is possible for 
up to six people (including carers) to live together as a single household and receive care e.g. 
supported housing schemes such as those for people with learning disabilities or mental health 
problems without the need for planning permission. 

Planning permission is required in this instance as there would be 5 boys and 3 members of staff 
residing on site due to Ofsted requirements. 

1

61



2 Planning History

Reference Proposal Decision Date
11/01372/FUL

07/00558/FUL

Change of use from C3 residential to C2

Change of use to guest house from dwelling

Permitted 

Permitted 

09/11/2011

06/06/2007

06/00992/OUT Erection of a bungalow Permitted 28/07/2006

06/00736/OUT Erection of bungalow Withdrawn 26/06/2006

3 Planning Policy

Decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan policies below, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.

Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011)

CS16 - Urban Design and the Public Realm 
Design should be of high quality, appropriate to the site and area, improve the public realm, 
address vulnerability to crime, be accessible to all users and not result in any unacceptable impact 
upon the amenities of neighbouring residents.

Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012)

PP02 - Design Quality 
Permission will only be granted for development which makes a positive contribution to the built 
and natural environment; does not have a detrimental effect on the character of the area; is 
sufficiently robust to withstand/adapt to climate change; and is designed for longevity.

PP03 - Impacts of New Development 
Permission will not be granted for development which would result in an unacceptable loss of 
privacy, public and/or private green space or natural daylight; be overbearing or cause noise or 
other disturbance, odour or other pollution; fail to minimise opportunities for crime and disorder.

PP12 - The Transport Implications of Development 
Permission will only be granted if appropriate provision has been made for safe access by all user 
groups and there would not be any unacceptable impact on the transportation network including 
highway safety.

PP13 - Parking Standards 
Permission will only be granted if appropriate parking provision for all modes of transport is made 
in accordance with standards.

4 Consultations/Representations

PCC Transport & Engineering Services (02.09.15)
No objection - the Local Highway Authority has requested at least 9 parking spaces be provided, 
the access width be increased to 5.5m (or 5m if a separate pedestrian access can be achieved), as 
well as satisfactory pedestrian and vehicle visibility splays.

Orton Longueville Parish Council 
No comments received

PCC Tree Officer (17.08.15)
No objection

2

62



Local Residents/Interested Parties 

Initial consultations: 11
Total number of responses: 2
Total number of objections: 2
Total number in support: 0

Two letters of representation have been received from the same address raising the following 
concerns; 

-  Noise and disturbance to residents (absconding from the property);
-  Crime;
-  Wider community unaware;
-  Change of use of the building from a dwelling to a business; 
-   Management of business; 
-  Maintenance of the property; 
-  Boundary dispute; and
-  Devaluation of neighbouring property.

Cllr North has referred the application to Committee because of concerns relating to noise, land 
use compatibility and highways. 

5 Assessment of the planning issues

Principle of Development
The objective of the proposal is to create a family home environment where young persons (aged 
10-16) would receive support to develop the skills and abilities for independent living. 

By way of background information each home is operated by a registered manager, and this 
person is responsible for ensuring that the home is run in accordance with the regulations set out 
in the Children's Homes (England) Regulations 2015. The regulations are made up of 9 quality 
standards which must be met. Ofsted are the registered authority for children's homes, who also 
regulate and inspect children's homes at least twice per year, one of which is a full inspection. 
Inspections assess the quality of care being provided for children, the outcomes the children are 
being supported to receive and tests compliance with the relevant regulations. 

If Ofsted find that a children's home has failed to meet a relevant regulation, it would set out 
requirements that the registered manager must meet. Failure to meet regulations may lead to 
enforcement action being taken. 

It is understood that Local Authorities are responsible for placing children in the homes. There is 
therefore a robust assessment to ensure that each child's needs are met and there would be no 
conflict with the other young people already placed at the home. 

The regulations seek that the children are enrolled at local schools and integrate with the local 
community. As such it is not considered that the proposal, either through its occupation or day to 
day activities would be markedly different to that of a large residential dwelling. 

In addition, as previously stated, the premises could be occupied by 5 children and one member of 
staff without the need for planning permission, and it is not considered that the additional 2 
members of staff would materially change the impact of the proposal. The proposal would therefore 
accord with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy (2011) and PP2 of the Peterborough 
Policies DPD (2012). 

Design, Layout & Amenity
Policies CS16 and PP2 seek to ensure any development would not have an adverse impact on the 
character of the area. Policy PP3 seeks to ensure that development would not result in 

3

63



unacceptable harm to neighbour amenity. 

The property benefits from a large rear amenity space with mature boundary treatments on all 
sides, and is set back from a busy road. The proposed access ramp is not considered to harm the 
appearance of the host building and the site has sufficient space to provide parking to front. 

The Applicant’s intention is to operate the premises as a residential dwelling whereby young 
persons would benefit from a secure environment. A letter of representation has raised concern 
that the young persons would be left unattended, could be left to their own devices or abscond 
from the property. There would be three full time members of staff and the Applicant has confirmed 
that they would not be left unattended. Should this be the case and a complaint was made to 
Ofsted, the home would risk being subject to enforcement action. 

Concerns of an increase in crime have also been raised. Whilst fear of crime is a material planning 
consideration, the proposed development is not considered to increase levels of crime, and given 
the size of the plot and nature of development proposed the scheme is not considered to result in 
adverse levels of noise or activity over and above that which is permitted under the Use Class 
Order, or a large family home. 

The proposal is considered to accord with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy (2011) 
and PP2 and PP3 of the Peterborough Policies DPD (2012). 

Access and Parking
The property benefits from a large parking area to front, with a detached triple garage. The Agent 
has clarified that there would be 3 full time members of staff and the Local Highways Authority 
have requested 9 parking spaces be provided. A revised access and parking arrangement has 
been submitted (SMEL/2013/04A), which illustrates 9 spaces and an adequate access, which is 
considered to satisfy LHA concerns.

The previously approved scheme sought to secure cycle parking, however Policy PP13 and 
Appendix A of the Peterborough Policies DPD (2012) states one secured space per bedroom, 
unless a garage is provided within the curtilage. There is a triple garage on site, therefore cycle 
parking can be provided. 

Subject to securing the parking and access matters by condition the proposal would accord with 
Policies PP12 and PP13 of the Peterborough Policies DPD (2012).

Other Matters
- There is an on-going boundary dispute with respect to trees. The proposed change of use would 
have no impact on existing trees, and any dispute would be a civil matter between the two parties; 

- Wider community unaware - the proposal has been advertised in accordance with the proper 
regulations; and

- Devaluation of neighbouring property - This is not a planning matter and cannot lawfully be 
considered.

6 Conclusions

Subject to the imposition of the attached conditions, the proposal is acceptable having been 
assessed in the light of all material considerations, including weighing against relevant policies of 
the development plan and specifically:

- the proposed use, external changes and parking provision would not result in an adverse impact 
on the visual amenity or character of the area, nor result in an increase in crime, and the proposal 
accords with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2012) and PP2 of the 
Peterborough Policies DPD (2012); 

4

64



- the proposed use would not unacceptably harm the amenity of adjoining neighbours by reason of 
noise or disruption, and therefore accords with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy 
DPD (2012) and PP3 of the Peterborough Policies DPD (2012); and
- the proposal would provide satisfactory car and cycle parking to serve the use, as well as a 
satisfactory access; therefore the proposal would not constitute an adverse highway safety hazard 
and would accord with Policies PP12 and PP13 of the Peterborough Policies DPD (2012). 

7 Recommendation

The Director of Growth and Regeneration recommends that Planning Permission is GRANTED 
subject to the following conditions:

C 1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from 
the date of this permission.

Reason: In accordance with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended).

C 2 Prior to the use of the building hereby approved the parking and access arrangement shall 
be provided in accordance with Drwg SMEL/2013/04A and these spaces shall not 
thereafter be used for any purpose other than the parking of vehicles.

Reason: In the interest of Highway safety and providing satisfactory parking, in accordance 
with Policies PP12 and PP13 of the Peterborough Policies DPD (2012). This is a pre-
commencement condition as the measures need to be in place at the outset of the use.

C 3 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town & Country Planning (General Permitted) 
Development Order 1995 (or any statutory instrument revoking and re-enacting that Order) 
the building shall be used to provide assisted living for no more than 5 persons aged 10-16 
at any one time and for no other purpose (including any other purpose within Class C2 of 
the Schedule to the Town & Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987) (or any provision 
equivalent to that class in any statutory instrument revoking and re-enacting that Order with 
or without modification).

Reason: In order to protect the character of the area, in accordance with Policy CS16 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011). 

Copies to Councillors: S M Scott OBE, D A Seaton, N V North

 

5

65



This page is intentionally left blank

66



67



This page is intentionally left blank

68



Planning and EP Committee 13 October 2015                                                               Item 5

Application Ref: 15/01200/FUL 

Proposal: Single storey extension to provide additional childcare spaces with 
restricted hours of operation from 9:30AM - 4:30PM - Resubmission

Site: 241 Park Road, Peterborough, PE1 2UT, 
Applicant: Bright Stars Day Nursery
Agent: Barker Storey Matthews

Referred by: Corporate Director of Growth and Regeneration 
Reason: Previous decision by Committee 
Site visit: 16.10.2014

Case officer: Miss Louise Lovegrove
Telephone No. 01733 454439
E-Mail: louise.lovegrove@peterborough.gov.uk

Recommendation: REFUSE  

1 Description of the site and surroundings and Summary of the proposal

Site and Surroundings
The application site comprises a single storey building currently in use as the Bright Stars Day 
Nursery.  The nursery has been in use for a number of years, with evidence of first registration with 
the City Council in 1974 albeit this was a mixed use of nursery and residential dwelling.  In 2002, 
planning permission was granted for the sole use of the site as a day nursery and in 2008, the 
number of children permitted to attend at any one time was restricted to 52.  

The original part of the existing nursery is set back from the back edge of the public highway by an 
area of hardstanding which provides car parking for 4no. vehicles.  This is access via a dropped 
kerb crossing from Park Road.  The surrounding area is predominantly residential and comprises 
two storey residential dwellings of varying design and form.  

The application property has been substantially extended to the side and rear with a large covered 
area providing sheltered outdoor play space between the host building and a detached outbuilding 
(former garage) which is used as nursery space.  The siting of the application proposal is presently 
an open grassed outdoor play area.  

Residential properties are located either side and to the rear of the application site.  

Proposal
The application seeks planning permission for the construction of a single storey extension to the 
rear of the existing property to provide a total of 59.7 square metres of additional space, including 
three toilets.  The extension would be of flat roof construction and would be sited between the 
original building and an existing detached outbuilding which are linked by virtue of a covered 
outdoor area.  

The supporting information which accompanies the application is confused with regards to the 
intended purpose of the building.  The Applicant’s Agent has confirmed that the proposal does 
seek to increase the number of children present within the site by 24, thereby taking the total up to 
76 at any one time.  However it is proposed for the additional places/extension to be subject to 
restricted hours of use, between 09.30 and 16.30.  It should be noted that the originally permitted 
hours of use (08:00 to 18:30) would remain for the original pupils/remainder of the site.  

1

69



The current scheme has been amended from an earlier scheme which was refused planning 
permission by Members under application reference 14/01509/FUL.  The reasons for refusal of this 
earlier scheme were: 

R1 The proposed increase in the number of children attending the day nursery would represent 
a significant intensification of the use of the site. There is a lack of adequate car parking on 
the site to accommodate the existing parking demands generated and has resulted in 
vehicles parking in dangerous locations near public footways and reversing from the shared 
access onto the adjacent busy carriageway. The proposal would result in the intensification 
of the use of the site which would therefore exacerbate these existing safety dangers. 
Accordingly, the proposal would result in a further detriment to the safety of all users of the 
public highway, contrary to Policy CS14 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) 
and Policies PP12 and PP13 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

R2 The proposed single storey building would infill an existing open area within the application 
site. It is considered that the proposal in addition to the extensive existing buildings on the 
site would result in a significant level of built form within the plot which would appear 
incongruous and at odds with the established built form of the surrounding area. The 
proposal would represent overdevelopment of the site and result in unacceptable harm to 
the character, appearance and visual amenity of the locality. On this basis, the proposal is 
contrary to Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP2 of 
the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

R3 The proposed single storey building, by virtue of its height, depth and positioning adjacent 
to the shared boundary with No.243 Park Road, would result in a length of development 
which appears unduly overbearing to neighbouring occupants and would unacceptably 
harm the outlook from primary habitable rooms. Furthermore, the resultant proposed 
increase in number of children within the site would give rise to an unacceptable level of 
noise and general disturbance to those immediately adjacent residential properties. The 
proposal would therefore result in an unacceptable level of harm to the amenities of 
neighbouring occupants, contrary to Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD 
(2011) and Policy PP3 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

The key differences from this earlier scheme are as follows:
‒ The building would now be attached and set away from the shared boundary with No.243 Park 

Road (to the north) by 2 metres (previously the proposal abutted this boundary) albeit the 
footprint and height are the same;

‒ The red line boundary of the application site no longer includes the parking forecourt to the 
front of No.232 Park Road (opposite the site); and

‒ It is now proposed to restrict the hours of use of the proposed building/additional pupils to not 
outside 09:30 and 16:30.

2

70



2 Planning History

Reference Proposal Decision Date
P0001/86/EU Application for established use certificate 

for use of premises as dwelling with nursery 
school

Permitted 08/12/1986

P0037/87 Extension at rear and detached garage Permitted 16/02/1987

91/P0101 Cloakroom extension for garden room Permitted 25/03/1991

92/P0968 Erection of a conservatory in accordance 
with applicant's letter of 17th January 1993

Permitted 20/01/1993

02/00746/FUL Change of use of dwelling/nursery to sole 
nursery use with increase of registered 
numbers of children from 41-50

Permitted 15/07/2002

08/00031/FUL Single storey rear extension with covered 
area

Permitted 13/03/2008

08/01067/WCPP Variation of condition C3 of planning 
permission ref 02/00746/FUL to allow the 
number of child places to be increased from 
50 to 52

Withdrawn 10/10/2008

08/01265/WCPP Variation of condition C3 of planning 
permission ref 02/00746/FUL to allow the 
number of child places to be increased from 
50 to 52

Permitted 04/12/2008

09/01104/FUL Installation of external air conditioning 
condensing units - retrospective

Refused 08/01/2010

10/01352/FUL Installation of external A/C units - 
retrospective

Permitted 01/03/2011

14/01509/FUL Proposed additional single storey building 
for childcare provision

Refused 27/10/2014

3 Planning Policy

Decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan policies below, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.

National Planning Policy Framework (2012)

Section 8 - School Development 
Great weight should be given to the need to create, expand or alter schools.

Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011)

CS14 - Transport 
Promotes a reduction in the need to travel, sustainable transport, the Council’s UK Environment 
Capital aspirations and development which would improve the quality of environments for 
residents.

3

71



CS16 - Urban Design and the Public Realm 
Design should be of high quality, appropriate to the site and area, improve the public realm, 
address vulnerability to crime, be accessible to all users and not result in any unacceptable impact 
upon the amenities of neighbouring residents.

Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012)

PP02 - Design Quality 
Permission will only be granted for development which makes a positive contribution to the built 
and natural environment; does not have a detrimental effect on the character of the area; is 
sufficiently robust to withstand/adapt to climate change; and is designed for longevity.

PP03 - Impacts of New Development 
Permission will not be granted for development which would result in an unacceptable loss of 
privacy, public and/or private green space or natural daylight; be overbearing or cause noise or 
other disturbance, odour or other pollution; fail to minimise opportunities for crime and disorder.
PP12 - The Transport Implications of Development 
Permission will only be granted if appropriate provision has been made for safe access by all user 
groups and there would not be any unacceptable impact on the transportation network including 
highway safety.

PP13 - Parking Standards 
Permission will only be granted if appropriate parking provision for all modes of transport is made 
in accordance with standards.

4 Consultations/Representations

PCC Transport & Engineering Services (11.08.15)
Objection – There is a lack of adequate parking within the site and the current parking demand has 
led to vehicles parking on the nearby public footways and reversing from the shared access onto 
the adjacent carriageway.  Any increase in the nature of this development would exacerbate this 
situation causing further detriment to the users of the public highway.  

Victoria Park Residents Association 
No comments received.

Local Residents/Interested Parties 

Initial consultations: 28
Total number of responses: 6
Total number of objections: 2
Total number in support: 0

Two objections have been received from the owners/occupants of Nos. 243 Park Road and No.158 
Dogsthorpe Road on the following grounds:
‒ The proposal was rejected by the Planning Committee in October 2014 (reference 

14/01509/FUL).  The present application differs only slightly from that application, in ways 
which do not significantly address the reasons for refusal.  

‒ Current data provided by Peterborough City Council also shows that, contrary to the 
supporting information provided by Council employees, there is no expected increase in 
demand for childcare places in Park Ward - their main reason for supporting this re-
submission.

‒ The physical structure of the proposed extension differs from the previous application in only 
one respect - it has been moved on metre further south.  In this respect the reason for refusal 
R2 (overdevelopment of the site) and part-R3 (unacceptable level of harm to the amenities of 
neighbouring occupants) have not been addressed. 

‒ In the case of reason for refusal R1, it is slightly more difficult to understand if this has been 

4

72



addressed as the application itself is confusing and contradictory.  The reason for wanting this 
extension is to meet increased demand for places - but it is stated that the overall number of 
children attending is not going to rise (despite the previous application asking for a 50% 
increase in numbers for which this new extension was needed).  Yet the Applicant also states 
that the current limit on numbers is rarely reached, so the nursery is not currently full.  This 
indicates that if there was a demand for more places in the area, places are already available.  
The Applicant's Planning Statement states: "Notwithstanding the additional floor space the 
maximum number of children at the facility at any one time will not increase" yet the letter from 
the Early Years and Child Intervention Team says they are supporting the application as it will 
provide "more early years education and childcare places at 241 Park Road". 

‒ The previous application contained travel information showing, on one sampled day, only four 
children arriving at the nursery by car.  However, for the revised application, 30 out of 47 
children have been listed as arriving by car one morning, although only 25 children were 
shown as leaving at all.  Charts for other days have been wrongly labelled, are incomplete and 
largely copied from the previous day.  These travel figures are therefore meaningless, as are 
the estimates of the number of children who will come from within the local area.  The letters 
or support from PCC Targeted Services and Sufficiency Team state that the places will be 
part-time for people accessing their entitlement to 15 hours per week of funded time.  This will, 
of course, double the turnover of cars at the lunchtime changeover.  

‒ Of greater significance, however, is information provided by Peterborough City Council's own 
document 'Early Years Education Funding Entitlement: Market Position Statement' dated April 
2015, which shows very clearly that the population forecasts in Park Ward show a decrease in 
the 0-4 years population over the next 10 years (p.24), with no additional places being 
required (p.25), and with a summary (p.21) stating clearly that for Park Ward "the latest figures 
suggest that there is no immediate pressure". This clearly contradicts the information in the 
Planning Statement and the supporting letters.

‒ On 27th October 2014, application 14/01509/FUL was refused by the Planning Committee.  
Members were very clear and forthright in their view that this was not a site suitable for any 
expansion to the current provision, with some of them having witnessed for themselves the 
dangerous behaviour of some of the present clients during the morning peak, and included 
comment that the site was already over-developed at present levels of business.  None of their 
chief concerns have been addressed in this re-submission, with clarity of the applicant's 
intentions being impossible to unravel from the contradictory information provided.  It can only 
be assumed that the intention is to increase the number of children attending as there is 
otherwise no reason for PCC to offer a grant designed to assist with increasing provision, 
hence failing to address reasons for refusal R1 and R3 in the previous application.

‒ The property already has a lot of children on-site during the day.  As a shift worker (occupant 
of No.158 Dogsthorpe Road), I would like to sit in my garden without more noise.  It is a case 
of profit for them and hassle for the rest of us.  If they need/want bigger premises, they should 
move.

The Applicant has provided supporting statements from the City Council's Early Years ad Child 
Intervention Service, and Targeted Services and Sufficiency Team.  Their comments can be found 
at Appendix A of this report.

5 Assessment of the planning issues

The main considerations are:
‒ Expansion of an existing education facility
‒ Parking and highway implications
‒ Design and impact upon the character and appearance of the surrounding area
‒ Neighbour amenity

a) Expansion of an existing education facility
Paragraph 72 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2012) (NPPF) highlights that 
considerable weight should be given to the need to create, expand or alter schools and that 
Local Planning Authorities should work with education providers to identify and resolve key 

5

73



planning issues before an application is submitted.  The proposal seeks to expand the 
teaching space available at the day nursery by approximately 60 square metres to provide 
additional accommodation for up to 24 children thereby providing space for a maximum 
number of 76 children.  This represents a 46% increase in the provision of childcare spaces.  

Through the supporting statements from the City Council’s Early Years team, it is 
acknowledged that there is increased demand for childcare places within Park Ward following 
the recent Government changes to childcare provision.  The information provided by these 
statements, identifies that from September 2014, an additional 1,565 two year olds have been 
seeking pre-school places across the City.  This demand is set to increase even further, when 
the plans to expand free childcare from 15 hours to 30 hours per week come into effect.  The 
supporting statements also highlight that the currently proposed additional places should be 
afforded considerable weight and this is also the position within national planning policy.  

It is noted that one of the objections received in relation to the proposal, highlights that a 
recent City Council document ‘Early Years Education Funding Entitlement: Market Position 
Statement’ (April 2015) states that Park Ward is identified as having no pressing need for 
funding for places and that over the next 10 years, demand will drop.  The City Council’s Early 
Years team has advised that this document represents an update from the previous year’s 
report which did identify a pressing need in both Park and Central Ward.  In 2014, the 
application site was allocated grant funding for expansion (subject to obtaining planning 
permission) and on this basis, the need was resolved.  However, if the current application is 
not permitted then the need will remain.  On this basis, it is accepted that there is a need for 
the provision of additional pre-school childcare places within the locality, which is a statutory 
function of the City Council.  The proposal would therefore provide additional childcare places 
within a locality which has a level of demand which is not presently being met.  

Notwithstanding the above, the NPPF also requires planning applications to be determined in 
accordance with the adopted development plan and all relevant material planning 
considerations.  Whilst there will clearly be a benefit to the wider community resulting from the 
application proposal, it is considered that on balance, the harm resulting (set out in detail 
below) would outweigh this benefit.  

b) Parking and highway implications
The application supporting documentation states that within the curtilage of the site, there are 
6 no. parking spaces provided for the purposes of parent drop off/pick with no provision for 
staff parking.  However, it is the view of the Local Highway Authority (LHA) and Officer's that 
there are only 4 no. usable car parking spaces available for use by parents as the remaining 
hard standing area provides the requisite turning space to allow vehicles to exit the site in 
forward gear.  

At present, the day nursery operates between the hours of 08.00 and 18.00 split between two 
daily sessions, albeit the extant planning permission allows for operation up to 18.30 hours.  In 
total, a maximum of 52 children are permitted within the day nursery at any one time (secured 
by condition) and the Applicant has advised that 13 staff are on-site at any one time (this has 
decreased from the information provided with the previous application, which stated that 17 
staff were present on-site at any one time).  This therefore represents a considerable number 
of movements to/from the site at peak times.  Whilst this application cannot address the 
implications that already arise from the development which lawfully operates from the site, 
careful consideration must be given to the intensification which would result from the proposal.  

The application has been supported by a statement that summarises the modal split of 
transport to/from the site by parents/visitors and identifies that few travel by private car.  It is 
noted that one of the objections from the immediate neighbour challenges this evidence.  As 
part of the assessment of the previous application (14/01509/FUL), both the Local Highway 
Authority Officer and Case Officer undertook site visits to assess the situation first-hand.  

6

74



Both visits were carried out between 07.30 and 08.30 hours on a weekday morning, thereby 
representing the morning peak in terms of vehicular movements.  It was observed that there 
were extremely high volumes of traffic on the road directly opposite the site which were 
queuing virtually 'bumper to bumper'.  It has been assessed that this situation occurs as a 
result of the traffic lights to the south (which is the safe crossing point for pupils attending 
Thomas Deacon Academy) and that Park Road is one of the main arterial routes for motorists 
travelling into the City Centre from the north.  At the time of the visit, a total of 5 cars were 
observed parking on the forecourt of the property, with four reversing out of the site onto Park 
Road.  This represents a significant danger to users of the adjacent public highway.  In 
addition, there were also vehicles parked along the footways on both sides of Park Road as 
there were no on-site parking spaces available.  This all occurred at a time when school 
children were passing the site to walk to school.  On the basis of the situation witnessed, the 
LHA therefore challenges the evidence submitted by the Applicant and questions the accuracy 
of the survey data presented.  

As detailed above, the proposal would increase the capacity of the site by 46% and result in a 
total of 76 children at any one time.  This therefore represents a significant intensification of 
the use of the site.  Whilst the existing parking and highway safety issues detailed above 
cannot be retrospectively addressed, any intensification would clearly and significantly 
increase the risk to all users of the public highway.  There is an insufficient number of car 
parking spaces available within the site to accommodate the drop off/pick up demands 
generated by the proposed increase in the number of children and as such, additional on-
street parking demand would be generated.  Furthermore, the current proposal no longer 
includes the forecourt parking on the site opposite for staff members and there is therefore no 
parking provision at all for staff within the current scheme.  This is likely to result in more cars 
parking in unsafe locations along the public highway, impeding the free flow of traffic on one of 
the main arterial routes into the City and resulting in increased conflict with school children 
using the public footway. 

It is noted that the Applicant has provided data on projected travel arrangements for children 
attending the Day Nursery.  However, on the basis of the travel patterns witnessed, and from 
information provided by objectors, it is unlikely that these travel patterns accurately predict the 
future travel modes.  

It is not considered that robust travel planning would sufficiently reduce the level of traffic 
generated by the proposal so as to not represent a danger to highway safety as the present 
Travel Plan in place has not addressed the demand already generated by the day nursery.  
Furthermore, it is noted that the Applicant proposes to restrict the hours of use of the proposed 
extension/additional pupils to not before 09:30 and not after 16:30 so as to avoid the peak 
hours in terms of traffic along the public highway.  However, it is the view of Officer's that such 
a restriction could not be effectively enforced, as there would be no meaningful way of 
separating the usage of the extension from the wider site.  In light of this, such a condition 
would not meet one of the key tests that must be applied and therefore cannot be imposed.  
As such, it is not considered that planning conditions could be used to bring about an 
acceptable parking and access situation.  

On this basis, the proposal would pose an unacceptable risk to the safety of all users of the 
public highway and is therefore contrary to Policy CS14 of the Peterborough Core Strategy 
DPD (2011) and Policies PP12 and PP13 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).  

c) Design and impact upon the character and appearance of the surrounding area
The existing application site has been considerably extended from the original dwellinghouse 
and there is a substantial covered area which links the main building to the existing converted 
detached former garage.  However, at present there is an open play area situated in place of 
the position of the application proposal.  The proposed single storey building would be sited 
within this existing open area, positioned 2 metres from the shared boundary with No.243 Park 
Road.  The building is proposed to be of flat roof design, extending to a maximum height of 2.9 

7

75



metres and would extend to a length of 7.9 metres. 

It is considered that, whilst the application site is of considerable size in terms of its plot, the 
building and its various extensions already represents the maximum amount of development 
that can be accommodated within the site.  The proposal would result in development which 
effectively occupies a depth of 42 metres across almost the entire width of the plot.  The 
existing open area presently breaks up the built form of the site and it is considered that the 
infilling of this would create a mass of development which dominates its context.  The resultant 
form of the building would appear unduly obtrusive and dominant within its context and result 
in unacceptable harm to the character, appearance and visual amenity of the surrounding 
area.  As such, the proposal is contrary to Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy 
DPD (2011) and Policy PP2 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).  

d) Neighbour amenity
At present, it is considered that the use of the site generates a significant level of noise and 
general disturbance particularly in relation to drop off/pick up times and the use of the outdoor 
play areas.  Whilst the proposal would result in the loss of an outdoor play area in close 
proximity to the primary habitable rooms of No.243 Park Road, it would instead introduce 
further development along the shared boundary.  The proposal would result in a continuous 
form of single storey development along the shared boundary which would infill the existing 
gap between the rear elevation of the neighbouring dwelling and its detached double garage 
which is positioned on the boundary.  Whilst the current proposal has been amended from the 
earlier refused scheme, by setting the extension 2 metres in from the shared boundary, it is 
not considered that this addresses the earlier reason for refusal.  The building would still be 
clearly visible from the neighbouring dwelling and would still result in an unacceptably 
dominant and overbearing impact to occupants of this neighbouring dwelling, substantially 
harming their outlook.  

Furthermore, the likely increase in the number of children permitted at the site above 52 would 
generate considerable additional noise and general disturbance.  This would further 
exacerbate the existing situation and bring about an unacceptable impact to the amenities of 
neighbouring occupants, particularly those immediately adjacent.  Any potential future noise 
complaints could not be addressed through other primary legislation as recent legal rulings 
have concluded that action cannot be taken against noise generated by children.  As such, this 
matter must be addressed through the planning application. 

It is considered that the resultant noise and disturbance from the children has the potential to 
result in those properties being unattractive places in which to live.  This, in combination with 
the unacceptable overbearing impact to No.243 Park Road, would result in an unacceptable 
level of harm to the amenities of neighbouring occupants and on this basis the proposal is 
contrary to Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP3 of the 
Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

6 Conclusions

The proposal is unacceptable having been assessed in light of all material considerations, 
including weighing against relevant policies of the development plan and for the specific reasons 
given below.

7 Recommendation

The Director of Growth and Regeneration recommends that Planning Permission is REFUSED for 
the following reasons:

 R 1 There is a lack of adequate car parking on the site to accommodate the existing parking 
demands generated and has resulted in vehicles parking in dangerous locations near public 
footways and reversing from the shared access onto the adjacent busy carriageway. The 

8

76



proposed extension would result in additional children attending the site and therefore an 
intensification of the use of the site which would exacerbate these existing safety dangers. 
Accordingly, the proposal would result in a further detriment to the safety of all users of the 
public highway, contrary to Policy CS14 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) 
and Policies PP12 and PP13 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

 
R 2 The proposed single storey extension would infill an existing open area within the 

application site. It is considered that the proposal in addition to the extensive existing 
buildings on the site would result in a significant level of built form within the plot which 
would appear incongruous and at odds with the established built form of the surrounding 
area. The proposal would represent overdevelopment of the site and result in unacceptable 
harm to the character, appearance and visual amenity of the locality. On this basis, the 
proposal is contrary to Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and 
Policy PP2 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

 
R 3 The proposed single storey building, by virtue of its height, depth and positioning in close 

proximity to the shared boundary with No.243 Park Road, would result in a length of 
development which appears unduly overbearing to neighbouring occupants and would 
unacceptably harm the outlook from primary habitable rooms. Furthermore, the resultant 
proposed increase in number of children within the site would give rise to an unacceptable 
level of noise and general disturbance to those immediately adjacent residential properties. 
The proposal would therefore result in an unacceptable level of harm to the amenities of 
neighbouring occupants, contrary to Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD 
(2011) and Policy PP3 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

Copies to Councillors: J Shearman, J P Peach

9

77



This page is intentionally left blank

78



APPENDIX 1

79



APPENDIX 1

80



81



This page is intentionally left blank

82



Planning and EP Committee 13 October 2015                                                                 Item 6

Application Ref: 15/01402/FUL 

Proposal: Change of use from B1 Industrial to Cash and Carry and Retail (A1) 
(retrospective) - re-submission

Site: 24 St Davids Square, Fengate, Peterborough, PE1 5QA
Applicant: Mrs Karolina Kiminiene

Agent: Mr N P Branston  mrics, Branston Assoc.

Referred by: Councillor Johnson 
Reason: There are other examples of retail development within the locality. 
Site visit: 22.07.2015

Case officer: Miss Louise Lovegrove
Telephone No. 01733 454439
E-Mail: louise.lovegrove@peterborough.gov.uk

Recommendation: REFUSE  

1 Description of the site and surroundings and Summary of the proposal

Site and Surroundings
The application site comprises a small former employment (B1) unit of 207sqm located along the 
western boundary of St David's Square - an estate of mixed employment units of B1, B2 and B8 
uses.  The property is a mid-terraced unit within a row of 8 units, each with allocated parking to the 
front.  There is a large double storey loading bay door, with separate pedestrian entrance.  The site 
is located within the allocated Eastern General Employment Area.  There are some surrounding 
units which contain ancillary A1 retail elements.  

Proposal
The application seeks planning permission for the change of use of the unit to an A1 retail cash 
and carry.  It should be noted that the change of use has already taken place and therefore the 
application is retrospective.

This application follows refusal of an identical application under application reference 
15/00995/FUL earlier this year.  This application was refused for the following reason:  

R1 The Applicant has failed to demonstrate, through the submission of a detailed and robust 
assessment, that there are no more sequentially preferable sites within which the Class A1 
retail development can be accommodated.  In addition, the site is not located within close 
proximity to the community which it would serve, resulting in unsustainable need to travel 
to/from the retail unit by private car.  As such, the development represents retail 
development within an inappropriate location which would result in unacceptable harm to 
the vitality and viability of identified District and Local Centres within the surrounding 
locality.  The development is therefore contrary to paragraphs 24 and 27 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework (2012), Policy CS15 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD 
(2011) and Policy PP9 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

1

83



2 Planning History

Reference Proposal Decision Date
15/00995/FUL Change of use from B1 Industrial to Cash 

and Carry and Retail (A1)
Refused 25/08/2015

3 Planning Policy

Decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan policies below, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.

National Planning Policy Framework (2012)

Section 2 - Retail Development Outside Town Centres 
A sequential test should be applied to applications (except in relation to applications for small scale 
rural offices or other development). Proposals which fail the sequential test or would have an 
adverse impact should be refused.

Section 10 - Development and Flood Risk 
New development should be planned to avoid increased vulnerability to the impacts of climate 
change. Inappropriate development in areas of flood risk should be avoided by directing it away 
from areas at higher risk. Where development is necessary it shall be made safe without 
increasing flood risk elsewhere. Applications should be supported as appropriate by a site-specific 
Flood Risk Assessment, a Sequential Test and, if required, the Exception Test.

Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011)

CS14 - Transport 
Promotes a reduction in the need to travel, sustainable transport, the Council’s UK Environment 
Capital aspirations and development which would improve the quality of environments for 
residents.

CS15 - Retail 
Development should accord with the Retail Strategy which seeks to promote the City Centre and 
where appropriate the district and local centres. The loss of village shops will only be accepted 
subject to certain conditions being met.

CS22 - Flood Risk 
Development in Flood Zones 2 and 3 will only be permitted if specific criteria are met. Sustainable 
drainage systems should be used where appropriate.

Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012)

PP03 - Impacts of New Development 
Permission will not be granted for development which would result in an unacceptable loss of 
privacy, public and/or private green space or natural daylight; be overbearing or cause noise or 
other disturbance, odour or other pollution; fail to minimise opportunities for crime and disorder.

PP09 - Development for Retail and Leisure Uses 
A sequential approach will be applied to retail and leisure development. Retail development 
outside Primary Shopping Areas or leisure development outside any centre will be refused unless 
the requirements of Policy CS15 of the Core Strategy have been satisfied or compliance with the 
sequential approach has been demonstrated.

2

84



PP12 - The Transport Implications of Development 
Permission will only be granted if appropriate provision has been made for safe access by all user 
groups and there would not be any unacceptable impact on the transportation network including 
highway safety.

PP13 - Parking Standards 
Permission will only be granted if appropriate parking provision for all modes of transport is made 
in accordance with standards.

4 Consultations/Representations

PCC Transport & Engineering Services (22.09.15)
No objections - The change of use requires approximately 11 additional parking spaces (above the 
previous lawful B1 use).  Whilst at present there are 4 available spaces adjacent to the unit, there 
is available overflow parking which is not fully utilised.   There is sufficient space within St David's 
Square to provide delivery vehicle turning.

Local Residents/Interested Parties 

Initial consultations: 4
Total number of responses: 0
Total number of objections: 0
Total number in support: 0

No neighbour representations have been received.  

Councillor Johnson 
The people who have taken on the unit have spent a lot of money converting the building into a 
cash and carry. I am aware that they asked Councillor Iqbal to look into this for them and have not 
had a response from him. Can this decision be called in to the planning committee. I am aware that 
some of the other units on St David's Square are retail use as well. I know that no planning 
permission was needed in Parnwell centre when a retail unit was being turned into a house.

5 Assessment of the planning issues

The main considerations are:
 Principle of the change of use
 Parking and highway implications
 Flood risk

a) Principle of the change of use
With regards to the change of use that has taken place, the description submitted by the 
Applicant refers to the use of the site as a wholesale warehouse cash and carry, including A1 
retail element.  However, having visited the site and observed the goods on sale, Officers do 
not consider that this is an acceptable description.  There was no evidence of wholesale goods 
being sold and the offer appeared to be more akin to a medium-sized supermarket.  There 
was no evidence of bulk packs of goods and fruit/vegetables were able to be sold singly.  As 
such, it is considered that the use is instead wholly A1 retail development and will be assessed 
as such.  

As detailed within Section 1 above, the application site is located within an allocated General 
Employment Area (GEA).  Policy SA11 of the Peterborough Site Allocations DPD (2011) 
states that employment uses falling within Classes B1, B2 and B8 are favoured within these 
localities and that is where employment development should be directed.  Whilst the policy 
does not explicitly preclude other non-employment uses, due consideration must be given to 
their compatibility.  

3

85



Policy CS15 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP9 of the 
Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012) are the policies contained within the adopted 
Local Plan which refer to new retail development and accordingly, must be applied in this 
instance.  Both policies require that new retail development follows the sequential approach.  
In terms of the application site, this is located outside of any identified retail centres and as 
such, represents the least sequentially preferable location.  Therefore, it is for the Applicant to 
demonstrate that the proposal accords with the sequential approach, by undertaking an 
assessment of all relevant retail centres in order to demonstrate that there are no facilities 
within these which are available or suitable. 

It is noted that the application has been accompanied by a 'Sequential Search' however this 
document fails to adequately demonstrate compliance with the above policies.  The document 
states that '...a physical search was made of the Fengate industrial area, for a suitable vacant 
property with A1 planning consent...' however this is an incorrect application of the sequential 
search as it fails to go through the more preferable levels of sequence for the location of retail 
development.  In addition, the document states that 'A local centre shop would not meet the 
criteria required and would reduce the amount of A1 general shopping space in that area'.  
However no robust or detailed justification of this, through the form of a retail assessment, has 
been provided.  Notwithstanding this, Officers disagree as from the evidence witnessed on 
site, the proposal is akin to a small convenience supermarket which would be most 
appropriate within the identified centres.  Such uses are intended for retail centres as these 
are most appropriately located  in close proximity to the community that they are intended to 
serve.  In the present location, the proposal is poorly located for customers who have little or 
no option other than to drive to the site.  

The Applicant's Agent and Councillor Johnson have raised the point that there are surrounding 
A1 retail uses within St David's Square which set a precedent for such a use being accepted.  
However, following review of the planning and enforcement histories of these sites, it is noted 
that many have been deemed to be ancillary to the approved and appropriate B1, B2 and B8 
uses of the sites.  Any units whereby A1 retail use has been carried out are therefore 
unauthorised and should not be seen as a precedent for the current unacceptable 
development subject to this application. 

On this basis, the application has failed to demonstrate that there are no more sequentially 
preferable sites for the A1 retail unit to be located and the application site is poorly related to 
the community that it is intended to serve.  Without adequate and robust justification, it must 
be considered that the proposal represents inappropriate development within an allocated 
GEA and which results in unacceptable harm to the viability and vitality of identified retail 
centres within the City.  The proposal is therefore contrary to paragraphs 24 and 27 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (2012), Policy CS15 of the Peterborough Core Strategy 
DPD (2011) and Policy PP9 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).  

b) Parking and highway implications
The red line application boundary incorporates an area of communal car parking - available for 
use by all units within St David's Square - for use as overflow car parking.  The Local Highway 
Authority (LHA) has advised that they are content with this arrangement and that there is 
ample available car parking within this area to serve the needs of the A1 retail unit.  

With regards to the loading/unloading and turning of delivery vehicles serving the unit, St 
David's Square was initially designed to meet the needs of HGV turning and this can safely be 
undertaken within the site without detriment to the adjacent public highway network.  

On this basis, the site provides adequate parking, turning, loading and unloading provision 
clear of the public highway and accordingly would not result in any danger to the safety of the 
highway network.  The development is therefore in accordance with Policy CS14 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policies PP12 and PP13 of the Peterborough 
Planning Policies DPD (2012).  

4

86



c) Flood risk
The application site is located within Flood Zone 3 which has the highest risk of flooding.  The 
previous use of the site (B1) falls under the 'less vulnerable' category, as does the change of 
use to A1 retail.  Therefore, the National Planning Practice Guidance states that such uses are 
appropriate within this Flood Zone and further, the Environment Agency's standing advice 
states that there is no requirement for a sequential test to be applied.

6 Conclusions

The proposal is unacceptable having been assessed in light of all material considerations, 
including weighing against relevant policies of the development plan and for the specific reasons 
given below.

7 Recommendation

The Director of Growth and Regeneration recommends that Planning Permission is REFUSED for 
the following reason: 

 
R 1 The Applicant has failed to demonstrate, through the submission of a detailed and robust 

assessment, that there are no more sequentially preferable sites within which the Class A1 
retail development can be accommodated.  In addition, the site is not located within close 
proximity to the community which it would serve, resulting in unsustainable need to travel 
to/from the retail unit by private car.  As such, the development represents retail 
development within an inappropriate location which would result in unacceptable harm to 
the vitality and viability of identified District and Local Centres within the surrounding 
locality.  The development is therefore contrary to paragraphs 24 and 27 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework (2012), Policy CS15 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD 
(2011) and Policy PP9 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

 
Copies to Councillors: N Shabbir, J Johnson

5

87



This page is intentionally left blank

88



89



This page is intentionally left blank

90



Planning and EP Committee 13 October 2015 Item 7

Reference: 15/00001/TPO 

Proposal: Confirmation of Tree Preservation Order 15/00001/TPO

Site: 367 Eastfield Road, Eastfield, Peterborough, PE1 4RD

Site visit: 23.09.2015

Case officer: Mr Bryan Clary
Telephone No. 01733 453465
E-Mail: bryan.clary@peterborough.gov.uk

Recommendation: CONFIRM Tree Preservation Order 15/00001/TPO   

1 Description of the site and surroundings and Summary of the proposal

Purpose of Report

A provisional Tree Preservation Order (TPO) 15/00001/TPO at 367 Eastfield Road has been 
served following concerns that the tree was about to be felled or pruned inappropriately. The 
provisional TPO has been the subject of public consultation and as an objection was received, the 
Committee are required to determine the application in accordance with para 2.5.1.2 (f) of the 
Council’s Constitution.

The main considerations are: 

 Are the trees worthy of inclusion into a TPO in terms of public visual amenity value?
 Are the proposals reasonable and justified having regard to the letters of objections
      raised?

The Director of Growth and Regeneration recommends that the TPO is CONFIRMED

Site and Surrounding

The Horse chestnut is located in the front garden of 367 Eastfield Road immediately adjacent to 
the boundary wooden fence. A paved public footpath is situated the other side of the wooden 
fence.

Description of the Tree

T1 Horse chestnut. Mature. Historically pollarded/topped at height with regrowth now exhibiting a 
full crown. There are a several non-significant partially occluded wounds on the main stem. In 
addition there is the evidence of minor bleeding canker on the main stem and primary limbs, this 
doesn’t appear to be active or progressive and therefore isn’t significant. The structure of the 
primary unions and limbs appears sound. The crown shape is well balanced with no requirement 
for major tree surgery in the foreseeable future.
 

91



2 Planning History

Relevant Planning History

12/01075/HHFUL - Proposed replacement of existing fence with front boundary brick wall with 
piers, metal railings and metal gate

The above application was withdrawn prior to determination. At that time the Planning Agent was 
informed that the Horse Chestnut Tree was considered worthy of a TPO and no arboricultural 
information was provided to illustrate how likely damage to the tree by construction would be 
minimalised. Given that damage was likely the application was likely to have been recommended 
for refusal and it was subsequently withdrawn.

3 Planning Policy

Decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan policies below, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise:

 Town and Country Planning Act 1990, Section 198 states
198.— Power to make tree preservation orders
(1) If it appears to a local planning authority that it is expedient in the interests of  
amenity to make provision for the preservation of trees or woodlands in their area, they 
may for that purpose make an order with respect to such trees, groups of trees or 
woodlands as may be specified in the order.

 The Town and Country Planning (Tree Preservation) (England) Regulations 2012

4 Consultations/Representations

Objection
 
An objection to the TPO was received 23 June 2015 from the resident of 367 Eastfield Road (Mr S 
R Ebrahim) – this letter can be found at Appendix 1. The eight main points of the letter are 
outlined below:

Disagreement of the Assessment Criteria
Background
Peterborough City Council (PCC) has adopted a process whereby a tree has to score over 50 in an 
assessment form for a tree to be considered worthy of a TPO. Elements of the tree’s amenity, 
health, impact and special interest are scored between one and three. The Horse Chestnut Tree 
has scored 58 by the Tree Officer – see Appendix 2. (It is noted that a Local Authority does not 
have to apply any assessment criteria but are encouraged to for reasons of transparency).

Objection
Within the objection letter 12 of the 32 assessment scores are questioned with proposed new 
scores provided.

PCC Response
The proposed new scores have been studied and the reasoning provided noted. However, a 
conservative approach to the scoring was undertaken therefore deliberately scoring the Horse 
Chestnut Tree in the lower category where a score could be viewed as borderline. The assessment 
is a tool that helps in providing a degree of objectivity in an otherwise subjective task. It is 
acknowledged that some of the scoring is based on a professional opinion, which may not have 
been adequately explained, however, it is maintained that even if it is accepted that there is an 
element of subjectivity which may lead to an adjustment,  the assessment would still score over 50 
and the tree would be worthy of a TPO.

92



Objection 1: The change in stance from the Council – the sudden serving of the Order is not in 
accordance with the stance previously taken by the Council. There is no intention, nor been any 
discussion or action on my part that might lead the Council to suppose my intention has changed.

PCC Response 1: The tree was brought to the Councils attention by Mr Ebrahim in a telephone 
conversation. Proposed tree work was mentioned albeit not in detail. The Horse Chestnut Tree 
was assessed and was found to be worthy of a TPO. It is noted:

 Previous correspondence dating back to a planning application in 2012 indicates the tree 
is worthy of a TPO – therefore the Council hasn’t changed its stance.

 According to TPO serving guidance a tree does not have to be under imminent threat. A 
TPO can be served as a precautionary measure.

Objection 2: There have been three or four instances of the National Grid digging up the 
pavement adjacent to the tree trying to locate faults in the supply. It appears to me that the 
continued existence of the tree may be, wholly or partly, the cause of the problems.

PCC Response 2: We do not know the reasons behind the digging up of the pavement. However, 
utility companies (gas, water, electricity etc.) are exempt from undergoing the formal path of 
obtaining consent from their Local Planning Authority (LPA) to prune trees with a TPO. 

 We have to assume that any future repair works will be undertaken as per industry best 
practice which minimises construction related damage to trees;

Objection 3: Worries that branches are a hazard to passing buses. The continual buffeting of the 
branches weakens them and makes it more likely that they will fall.

PCC Response 3: If Highway clearance is required (up to 5.2m over roads and 2.4m over 
footpaths) no formal application to undertake the tree works is required. This is known informally 
‘as the Highway exemption’ as Highways have a duty to ensure the roads are clear from 
obstruction.

 As outlined above the Horse Chestnut Treecan be pruned to prevent collision with high 
sided vehicles with no formal consent.

 If the tree requires pruning further (for example around 0.5m) from the roadside to ensure a 
degree of clearance, this reasonable request would not be refused if applied for.

 There is no evidence (or none that I have heard) that continual buffeting weakens 
branches. It’s acknowledged that twigs and leaves may be dislodged but it could be argued 
that the buffeting makes branches stronger as trees put on woody tissues where required to 
reduce the likelihood of failure. 

Objection 4: The flags of the pavement outside the front boundary are increasingly uneven. This 
has apparently been caused by the roots of the tree. I consider that the degree to which the paving 
slabs are already raised constitutes a hazard to passers-by.

PCC Response 4: It is acknowledged that the structural roots close to the main stem of the Horse 
Chestnut Tree is causing minor damage to the footpath. Highways have been contacted who have 
confirmed that the issue is minor at the moment although this will be constantly under review (an 
inspection every three months). If the direct root growth becomes a significant problem Highways 
will contact the trees owner to discuss the options. 

Objection 5: Points 2, 3 and 4 are potentially sources of legal liability to me as the house owner, 
and the imposition of the Order makes it impossible for me to alleviate my liability. You have 
mentioned my liability continues irrespective of whether or not a TPO is in existence. However, at 
the moment the stance you have taken does not give me any expectation of being able to minimise 
my liability in the future. 

PCC Response 5: With regard to liability and the point 2, 3 and 4 above:
Point 2 – As far as I understand you have no liability by way of the tree with regard to any Statutory 

93



Undertakers including the national Grid. In the unlikely event that the tree would cause a major 
problem to any Statutory Undertaker the tree works to rectify the situation are exempt from 
requiring a formal application. To clarify, Statutory Undertakers do not require permission to 
undertake tree works on a Tree with a TPO and will undertake the works as they wish.
Point 3 – If the exemptions in Point 3 are exercised and the recommended pruning undertaken 
then the level of risk and potential liability to Highway users is minimised to a low level. Only 
minimal pruning measures may then be required. It is noted that any reasonable pruning request is 
unlikely to be refused. 
Point 4 – The Highway Authority is the responsible authority in respect of the footway  and any 
issues arising from any incidents, and will contact the tree owner in the event that there appears to 
be a problem.

Objection 6: Future plans to reconstruct the front boundary wall include measures to retain the 
tree. The construction techniques will be low impact and will not affect the tree.

PCC Response 6: The low impact construction of a new boundary feature is welcomed. It is 
acknowledged that the reconstruction of the wall is the reason why the Horse Chestnut Tree first 
came known the Tree Officer. The application for reconstruction of a front boundary wall and the 
presence of a tree preservation order are not mutually exclusive.

Objection 7: Inconsistency from PCC given the previous Tree Officer appeared to be of the 
opinion that this was a ‘marginal’ case. It is only since my contact with you in April 2015 that the 
Order has been made. I also question whether the same criteria are applied on land within Council 
ownership.

PCC Response 7: During the phone call April 2015 it was understood that the tree would be ‘cut 
down’. The Tree Officer responded to this suggestion by judging the impact of the tree’s pruning or 
removal. The tree was assessed and was revealed to be a prominent feature of the street scene 
and was worthy of a TPO. Subsequently, it was discovered that the phrase in the context of the 
telephone call meant only to prune the tree. However, once scrutinised and the tree has been 
judged to merit a TPO which is consistent with correspondence with the Planning Agent re: the 
reconstruction of the boundary in 2012.

With regard to the TPOs being served on Council trees it is highly unusual. An external company – 
Amey manages PCC’s trees and they follow (like the Tree Officer) the policies contained within 
Peterborough Tree and Woodland Strategy.

5 Assessment of the planning issues

Assessment of T1 Horse chestnut

Local Authorities within the best practice guidance ‘Tree Preservation Orders – A Guide to the Law 
and Good Practice’ are encouraged to develop systems to appropriately assess trees to ensure 
that the serving of TPOs is transparent and open to scrutiny. At PCC an assessment criteria has 
been developed which in its first section assesses the public amenity and the value a tree holds 
and later assesses the quality of the tree. 

An evaluation of T1 Horse Chestnut Tree was made and the tree is assessed as having high 
amenity value. Its location on Eastfield Road is prominent and its contribution to the street scene is 
high. The loss of or hard pruning of the tree would have a negative impact on the street scene. 

T1 Horse Chestnut Tree has been pruned previously but now has a full healthy crown with no 
significant defects. It is noted that it has the Leaf Miner which causes the early browning of leaves, 
however, this is a common problem on Horse chestnuts and does not detract from the overall 
quality of the tree. It is estimated that T1 Horse Chestnut Tree has a life expectancy of at least 20-
40 years.  

94



TPO serving procedure
The TPO was served in accordance with the procedures as stated in ‘Tree Preservation Orders – 
A Guide to the Law and Good Practice’. It is acknowledged that the original serving of the 
documentation was delayed as in the first instance the resident would not accept the paperwork in 
person when verbally told of the TPO. In addition, the paperwork was returned when sent by 
registered post. However, after discussion the objection deadline was extended so that the 
resident had a full 28 days to object to the TPO as outlined in ‘Tree Preservation Orders – A Guide 
to the Law and Good Practice’. 

Mr S R Elbrahim’s Objections

Mr Elbrahim’s objections are concise and logical. However, the objections outlined above do not 
detract from the fact that T1 Horse Chestnut Tree is of high amenity value, is in good condition, 
has reasonable longevity and is worthy of a TPO. 

It is reiterated that T1 Horse Chestnut Tree is adjacent to the footpath of Eastfield Road which 
shows minor damage. But it is confirmed from PCC Highways that the damage is minor and 
repairs are possible and are currently economically viable. The pavement is inspected on a 3 
month cycle therefore any trip hazard can be avoided. If the tree causes damage to an extent 
where it is not economically viable to continue repairs, then the removal of the tree and the TPO 
may be discussed with the tree owner.

It has been outlined by the tree owner that T1 Horse Chestnut Tree is not under immediate threat 
from inappropriate management or felling. This is acknowledged but the TPO has been served as 
a precautionary measure which is permissible under the TPO guidance. It is noted that a new 
boundary construction next to the tree has been proposed in the past and that a new boundary 
construction is likely in the future. The TPO status will ensure that T1 Horse Chestnut Tree is a 
material constraint in the eventuality of construction close to the tree.

It has been outlined that contrary to Mr S R Elbrahim’s opinion, the TPO will not prevent tree 
management to reduce his liabilities and fulfil his ‘Duty of care’ as a landowner.

Overall, the objections to not detract from the amenity or longevity that T1 Horse Chestnut Tree 
offers.

6 Conclusions

T1 Horse Chestnut Tree is a mature and attractive tree. It is in good health and conservatively has 
20-40 years lifespan. The tree makes a positive contribution to the amenity value of the area. 

Whilst being in close proximity to the footpath and road of Eastfield Road this is not considered to 
be a significant constraint and actually increases the prominence of the tree in the street scene. 

7 Recommendation

The Director of Growth and Regeneration recommends that Tree Preservation Order 
15/00001/TPO is confirmed.

95



This page is intentionally left blank

96



APPENDIX 1

97



APPENDIX 1

98



APPENDIX 1

99



APPENDIX 1

100



APPENDIX 1

101



APPENDIX 1

102



APPENDIX 1

103



This page is intentionally left blank

104



APPENDIX 2

TREE PRESERVATION ORDER ASSESSMENT FORM

Site address and parish: 367 Eastfield Road, Peterborough

Location in property: Front garden

Tree species: Horse chestnut

Map ref: SCORE: 58

Inspected by: Bryan Clary Date: 14.04.15

� In order to set a standard for the Tree Preservation Order assessment, the trees importance/visibility must 
be judged taking account of the factors which increase the trees desirability for inclusion, and areas of 
potential conflict associated with the built environment.

� It is suggested that the use of half points is used to increase accuracy and balance where categories do 
not quite match.

� Only Complete Section 2 when assessing a group.

� If the tree scores less than 7 in Section 1 or 2, question the reason for making the Order.

� If the tree is marked as ‘No’ in Item 1.1, ‘Extensive’ in Item 3.4 or item 3.9, or ‘High’ in Item 3.14 or item 
4.4, the tree should not be scheduled for a TPO unless there are extenuating circumstances.

� In Item 3.10 the size of the tree should be judged according to the average for the species.

� If the trees score less than 25 in Section 3 question the reason for making the Order.

� To be considered for a TPO the score should be at least 50 points, the exception being a tree of historic 
interest or a tree recognised as a key feature in the area.

� Trees being assessed as a group should score at least 56 points.

See over for assessment form

105



APPENDIX 2

� Prior to assessing the tree(s) health it would be prudent to judge if the tree(s) should be assessed as a 
single specimen or a group.

Individual

Does the trees merit protection as individual specimens Yes  No 
in their own right?

Group

Does the overall impact and quality of the trees merit Yes  No 
a group designation?

Would the trees reasonably be managed in the future Yes  No 
as a group?

Woodland

Does the woodland form an area greater than 0.1 hectare? Yes  No 

Would normal silvicultural management principles reasonably
be applicable?

Does the woodland currently contain regeneration and a Yes  No 
Ground flora?

Does the woodland form part of a garden? Yes  No 

Area

Does the area comprise scattered individual trees? Yes  No 

Is the area classification warranted as an emergency measure? Yes  No 

Is the area designation intended as a temporary measure Yes  No 
Pending future reclassification?

Do all trees/species merit inclusion? Yes  No 

Landscape function

 Landmark tree(s) 
 Skyline 
 Road frontage 
(trunk, principal, classified,  unclassified)
 Backdrop 
 Glimpses between properties or through gateways 
 Filtered views 
 Screening/buffering 

Visual Prominence

 Conurbation 
 Neighbourhood, estate, locale 

106



APPENDIX 2

 Site and immediate surroundings 
 Value restricted to site 

TPO ASSESSMENT FORM

Tree/Group 3 2 1 Score Notes
Visual Amenity
1.1 Seen by the general public Easily Sometimes No 3  2  1

1.2 Presence of other ‘local’ 
trees

< 4 < 10 > 10 3  2  1

1.3 Visual impact close by High Average Low 3  2  1

1.4 Visual impact at a distance High Average Low 3  2  1

Visual Impact as a group
2.1 Group quality close by Good Moderate Poor 3  2  1

2.2 Group quality at a distance Good Moderate Low 3  2  1

2.3 Group impact at a distance Great Moderate Low 3  2  1

2.4 Group impact close by Great Moderate Low 3  2  1

Group quality/impact should take account of the health, vigour, character and interdependence of all the relevant trees
Tree Health Considerations
3.1 Visual health at a distance Good Moderate Poor 3  2  1

3.2 Visual health close to Good Moderate Poor 3  2  1

3.3 Main stem structure Good Moderate Poor 3  2  1

3.4 Cavities None Some Extensive 3  2  1

3.5 Forks Good Average Weak 3  2  1

3.6 Main branch structure Good Average Poor 3  2  1

3.7 Extension growth Good Average Poor 3  2  1

3.8 Foliage condition Good Average Poor 3  2  1

3.9 Fungi present None Minor Extensive 3  2  1

3.10 Tree species/size 
comparison

Large Average Small 3  2  1

3.11 Maturity SM/Mat F Mature O Mature 3  2  1

3.12 Past management Appropriate Average Inappropriate 3  2  1

3.13 Life expectancy > 40 years < 40 years < 10 years 3  2  1

3.14 Future maintenance Low Average High 3  2  1

3.15 Future visual impact High Average Low 3  2  1

Impact considerations
4.1 On the highway Low >12m Mod <12m High <6m 3  2  1

4.2 On the services Low >12m Mod <12m High <5m 3  2  1

4.3 On a wall Low >12m Mod <12m High <5m 3  2  1

4.4 On a building Low >30m Mod <30m High <6m 3  2  1

The harmony of the tree and its surroundings (size, growth rate, shade and past ground works) at the time of inspection 
may add or deduct .5 of a point
Special Interest Factors
5.1 Rarity of the species Rare Moderate Common 3  2  1

5.2 Species rarity for the local 
soil

Rare Moderate Common 3  2  1

5.3 SSSI > One One None 3  2  1

5.4 Historic interest Great Moderate None 3  2  1

107



APPENDIX 2

5.5 Other factors > One One None 3  2  1

6 Total Score (50 or 56 
required)

58

108


	Agenda
	4.1 15/01059/WCMM - Eyebury Quarry, Eyebury Road, Eye, Peterborough
	4.1 -  1501059 Eyebury Quarry

	4.2 15/01086/R4FUL - Sports Ground, Fulbridge Road, Peterborough
	4.2 - 1501086R4FUL Sports Ground
	4.2 - Appendix 1 1501086R4FUL Sports Ground

	4.3 15/01129/FUL - Cranford Drive Boiler House, Hartwell Court, Westwood, Peterborough
	4.3 - 1501129FUL Cranford Drive Boiler House

	4.4 15/01198/FUL - 500 Oundle Road, Orton Longueville, Peterborough, PE2 7DF
	4.4 - 1501198FUL 500 Oundle Road

	4.5 15/01200/FUL - 241 Park Road, Peterborough, PE1 2UT
	4.5 - 1501200FUL 241 Park Road
	4.5 - Appendix 1 1501200FUL 241 Park Road

	4.6 15/01402/FUL - 24 St Davids Square, Fengate, Peterborough, PE1 5QA
	4.6 - 1501402FUL 24 St Davids Square

	4.7 Tree Preservation Order 01_2015 - 367 Eastfield Road, Peterborough
	4.7 - 1500001TPO 367 Eastfield Road
	4.7 - Appendix 1 1500001TPO 367 Eastfield Road
	4.7 - Appendix 2 1500001TPO 367 Eastfield Road




